

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2019

Retention Strategies for Oil and Gas Industry Managers

Faye Gerard Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Business Commons, Engineering Commons, and the Oil, Gas, and Energy Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Faye Gerard

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Dorothy Hanson, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Laura Thompson, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Rocky Dwyer, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

The Office of the Provost

Walden University 2019

Abstract

Retention Strategies for Oil and Gas Industry Managers

by

Faye Gerard

MBA, University of Phoenix, 1999
BS, Tuskegee University, 1992

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

August 2019

Abstract

The turnover cost of specialized employees in the oil and gas industry can exceed 400% of an employee's annual salary. The purpose of this multiple case study was to explore successful strategies that oil and gas company managers used to retain specialized employees. The specific population for the study was 8 managers from 4 oil and gas companies in a metropolitan city in the southern United States, which included 5 hiring managers and 3 engineering managers who had demonstrated success in retaining specialized employees. The conceptual lens used in this research study was the job embeddedness theory. Study data were collected through semistructured interviews, observations of participants' nonverbal cues, a review of company documents, and organizational websites. The interview data were analyzed using Yin's 5 steps for qualitative data analysis. The analysis resulted in 3 themes: (a) leadership engagement improved specialized employee retention, (b) flexibility through work-life balance improved specialized employee retention, and (c) monitoring and assessing retention through research tools and data analysis improved specialized employee retention. The implications of this study for positive social change include the potential to provide successful strategies for oil and gas company managers to retain specialized employees, which may contribute to improving promotion from within the oil and gas industry, reducing the study location area unemployment rates, and improving local job economies.

Retention Strategies for Oil and Gas Industry Managers

by

Faye Gerard

MBA, University of Phoenix, 1999
BS, Tuskegee University, 1992

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

August 2019

Dedication

I dedicate this study to my soul mate, my children, and my family. Through God, all things are possible.

Acknowledgments

I humbly thank God for giving me the temperament to complete the doctoral journey. Thanks to my soul mate, children, and family for your love and patience through my doctoral journey. Thanks to my committee members, Drs. Hanson, Gaytan, Thompson, and Dwyer, for your guidance, feedback, and time in helping me reach this point in my academic career.

Table of Contents

Se	ction 1: Foundation of the Study	1
	Background of the Problem	1
	Problem Statement	2
	Purpose Statement	2
	Nature of the Study	3
	Research Question	4
	Interview Questions	4
	Conceptual Framework	5
	Operational Definitions	5
	Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	6
	Assumptions	6
	Limitations	6
	Delimitations	7
	Significance of the Study	7
	A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	8
	Brief History of the Nature of the Oil and Gas Industry	10
	Economic Effects	11
	Demand for Highly Skilled Employees	11
	Voluntary Turnover	14
	Job Embeddedness Theory	17

	Three Tenets of Job Embeddedness	19
	Criticism of Job Embeddedness Theory	25
	Misapplication of Job Embeddedness Theory	26
	Application of Job Embeddedness Theory	27
	Other Theories Considered	28
	Predictors of Job Embeddedness	30
	Effects of Job Embeddedness	33
	Predictors of Retention	33
	Retention in the Oil and Gas Industry	42
	Job Embeddedness in the Oil and Gas Industry	49
	Summary	51
	Transition	52
Se	ection 2: The Project	54
	Purpose Statement	54
	Role of the Researcher	55
	Participants	58
	Research Method and Design	61
	Research Method	61
	Research Design	62
	Population and Sampling	63
	Ethical Research	65
	Data Collection Instruments	68

Data Collection Technique	70
Data Organization Technique	73
Data Analysis	74
Reliability and Validity	76
Reliability	76
Validity	77
Transition and Summary	79
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	81
Introduction	81
Presentation of the Findings	82
Applications to Professional Practice	99
Implications for Social Change	101
Recommendations for Action	103
Recommendations for Further Research	104
Reflections	105
Conclusion	106
References	108
Appendix: Interview Protocol	145

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

The turnover of specialized employees in the oil and gas industry is a significant problem (Ajmal, Shamim, Saleh, & Malik, 2016). Industry leaders are increasingly interested in developing strategies to improve employee retention because of the excessive costs of talent and resources lost that are associated with turnover (Harhara, Singh, & Hussain, 2015). The objective in this study was to explore strategies that oil and gas company managers use to retain specialized employees. In the first section of this study, I provide the foundation for the study, detailing the problem, purpose, nature, research questions, and framework. Finally, I define operational terms; present assumptions, limitations, and delimitations; and discuss the significance of this research.

Background of the Problem

One characteristic of the oil and gas industry is its failure to retain talented employees. New employee training in the oil and gas industry can be expensive and time consuming, and replacing highly specialized workers lost because of employee turnover is often difficult (Harhara et al., 2015). Leaders of oil and gas companies are investing in new projects, but growth is slowed because of the diminished talent pool and an aging industry workforce (Al-Musali & Ku Ismail, 2016). The diminishing talent pool and an aging industry workforce create a problem in the oil and gas industry in which companies fail to retain specialized employees. My contention in this study was that managers must develop and employ strategies to retain specialized employees.

Problem Statement

The voluntary departure of specialized employees is a significant challenge in the oil and gas industry (Ajmal et al., 2016). Replacement costs for high-level or highly specialized employees are as much as 400% of employees' annual salaries (Bose, 2016). The general business problem was the high level of employee turnover in the oil and gas industry. The specific problem was some oil and gas company managers lack strategies to retain specialized employees.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore the successful strategies that oil and gas company managers use to retain specialized employees. The specific population for the study was eight managers from four oil and gas companies in a metropolitan city in the southern United States, which included five hiring managers and three engineering managers who had demonstrated success in retaining specialized employees. The implications for social change include catalyzing increased awareness to local people on the evolving elements surrounding their jobs, thereby improving career and financial stability and providing opportunities for growth within the oil and gas industry for the specialized employees in a metropolitan city in the southern United States. If specialized employees stayed instead of leaving for a different industry, leaders may improve promotion from within the oil and gas industry, reduce a metropolitan city in the southern United States unemployment rates, and improve local job economies. When the local economy improves, local governments increase their tax base, resulting in more tax revenue that could be used to make improvements in the local community.

Nature of the Study

The three research methods for conducting research are quantitative, qualitative, and mixed methods (Venkatesh, Brown, & Bala, 2013). Researchers employ the qualitative research method to explore phenomena and processes that cannot be examined via quantitative methods (Gutmann, 2014), making the qualitative method an appropriate fit for my study. Researchers employ the quantitative research method to examine the relationships or differences between variables (Venkatesh et al., 2013), making the quantitative method unsuitable for my study. In this study, I explored various strategies to retain specialized employees and did not examine relationships or differences between variables. Researchers employ the mixed-method approach when using qualitative results to inform the evaluation and interpretation of quantitative data (Sekhobo et al., 2017), making the mixed method unsuitable for my study. I explored strategies that oil and gas managers use to retain specialized employees and did not test a hypothesis or collect and evaluate quantitative data.

The qualitative research designs I considered for this study were case study, phenomenology, and ethnography. The phenomenological design allows researchers to focus on human experiences, while ethnographic researchers focus on culture and society (Tavakol & Sandars, 2014). As a concept, phenomenology aids a researcher in understanding a phenomenon of interest and how the study participants derive meaning from the experiences, whereas ethnography is employed to explore the structure and function of participants' experiences within a cultural perspective (Rodriguez, 2016). I did not select the phenomenological or ethnographic design for my study because I did

not concentrate on the human experience or culture to research strategies some oil and gas company managers employ to retain specialized employees.

The qualitative multiple case study design was most suitable for my study because I explored four companies in the oil and gas industry. The multiple qualitative case study approach entails an empirical investigation of a simultaneous occurrence in real life while using multiple sources of evidence to understand a phenomenon (De Massis & Kotlar, 2014). I used a multiple qualitative case study design to address the research question because it enabled the exploration and understanding of the strategies to retain specialized employees within the context of different companies' dynamics.

Research Question

What strategies do oil and gas company managers employ to retain specialized employees?

Interview Questions

- 1. What strategies do you employ to retain specialized employees?
- 2. What specific strategies do you employ to retain specialized employees?
- 3. What strategies do you find worked best to retain specialized employees?
- 4. What strategies, in your opinion, did not work to retain specialized employees?
- 5. How do you monitor, update, or modify specialized employee retention strategies?
- 6. How did you assess the effectiveness of the strategies for retaining specialized employees?

7. What other information would you like to share regarding strategies that contribute to the successful retention of specialized employees?

Conceptual Framework

The conceptual framework for this research study was based on Holtom, Mitchell, and Lee's (2006) job embeddedness theory. The job embeddedness theory was useful for examining retention strategies for specialized employees because it helped determine an employee's fit with an organization based on personal values, career goals, and future. Holtom et al. proposed that the stronger employees fit with an organization, the more likely they are to be committed to it. Mitchell, Holtom, Lee, Sablynski, and Erez (2001) employed job embeddedness theory to explain why some employees stayed at companies and provided additional context into why others leave. In this study, I expected that the use of the theory would allow me to explore strategies and insights regarding job embeddedness theory characteristics as they related to the retention of specialized employees in the oil and gas industry.

Operational Definitions

Intent to stay: The intention an individual will remain with their current employer (Yarbrough, Martin, Alfred, & McNeill, 2017). Individuals can stay employed in their current work environments if they believe they are receiving the benefits they seek from the position (Yarbrough et al., 2017).

Job embeddedness: A range of psychological, social, and financial factors that influence employee retention (Ghosh & Gurunathan, 2015b).

Retention: When an employee stays with an organization for an extended period (Johennesse & Chou, 2017).

Specialized employee: Highly trained individuals who possess task-sensitive skills (Castro-Palaganas et al., 2017).

Turnover: The involuntary and voluntary separation of employees from their employers (Woodworth, 2016).

Work–life balance: The state by which an employee is capable of balancing between work and nonwork commitments (Hofmann & Stokburger-Sauer, 2017).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Assumptions

Assumptions are things that cannot be proven using unverified data or unexamined related information but must be assumed true to investigate (Odetunde & Ufodiama, 2017). Three assumptions were inherent to this study. First, I assumed all participants would provide open and truthful responses to all interview questions.

Another assumption was that retention strategies are important to leaders in the oil and gas industry in a metropolitan city in the southern United States. Finally, I assumed hiring or engineering managers would participate in the study.

Limitations

Limitations are potential confines of a study that are beyond a researcher's control (Dowling, Lloyd, & Suchet-Pearson, 2016). Several limitations were innate in this study. The first limitation was the small sample size since the study was focused in a metropolitan city in the southern United States. Another limitation was the research

findings were limited to the oil and gas companies from which the sample was drawn; employees in other geographic locations or those working with other organizations could provide different data. Several nonwork factors that influence employee retention, such as personal finances or family relationships, and examination of these elements was beyond the scope of this study. Finally, the short time duration of the study was a study limitation.

Delimitations

Delimitations are factors a researcher perceives as limiting the scope of findings (Dowling et al., 2016). One delimitation of my study was the sample only consisted of oil and gas managers employed by companies in a metropolitan city in the southern United States; therefore, the results were not generalizable to wider industries and locations. Another delimitation was the selected geographical scope, which was limited to a metropolitan city in the southern United States. A final delimitation of this study was interviewing individuals only having experience in both the development and implementation of employee retention policies and the exclusion of individuals with experience in either the development or implementation of employee retention policies.

Significance of the Study

Oil and gas company leaders incur a high turnover cost from the attrition of specialized employees (Li, Lee, Mitchell, Hom, & Griffeth, 2016). To remain competitive, managers must address the turnover issue (Abbasi & Hollman, 2000; Barney, 1995), making the implementation of an effective retention strategy for specialized employees a necessity. The costs of employing new employees are both direct

and indirect (Duffield, Roche, Homer, Buchan, & Dimitrelis, 2014). Oil and gas managers spend time training and developing specialized employees, which amount to substantial costs (Li et al., 2016). Through the results of this study, I provide strategies to oil and gas company managers on retaining specialized employees in the oil and gas industry, which could add value to a business by reducing the costs related to turnover. The findings and recommendations from this study could be used to encourage oil and gas company managers to develop employee retention strategies to retain specialized knowledge and increase operational performance for a company to remain competitive.

The identification of effective retention strategies for company managers could result in a positive social change by increasing local jobs, reducing employee turnover, reducing company turnover costs, and the associated costs of replacement hiring (Newell & Raimi, 2018). The leaders could use company cost savings to provide salary increases to specialized employees and might provide additional financial investment into the local community, which could improve the quality of life of employees and stakeholders.

Other implications for positive social change for specialized employees include employment longevity, financial security, employment stability, family stability, and improvements for well-being.

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

Retention is a common challenge in the oil and gas industry (Newell & Raimi, 2018). Oil and gas company managers could improve employee retention by developing successful retention strategies. The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore the successful strategies that oil and gas company managers use to retain

specialized employees. This section begins with a discussion of the oil and gas industry, including its history, its economic effects, and its demand for highly skilled employees.

Next, I discuss job embeddedness theory, including a review of shortcomings of the job embeddedness theory, application of the job embeddedness theory, other theories considered as the conceptual framework for this study, three tenets of job embeddedness, and predictors and effects of job embeddedness. A significant portion of this discussion is also dedicated to a review of the literature on retention, especially its predictors. Research about retention issues in general and those faced by the oil and gas industry specifically, follows. The section closes with a summary and transition.

I located the information in this literature review in scholarly articles, primarily retrieved from academic, peer-reviewed journals. The search terms to locate these articles included: retention, strategies, turnover, job, embeddedness, employee, community, fit, culture, engineering manager, hiring manager, cost of turnover, and specialized employee. I searched several databases, including Google Scholar, Emerald Management, SAGE Premier, Science Direct, ProQuest Central, Walden Library, EBSCOhost, and Thoreau: Search Multiple Databases Thoreau Multi-Database Search. Additional sources of literature included books, dissertations, and government publications. I included 232 references in this review, of which 210 (or 91%) were published within 5 years (i.e., 2015–2019) of my completion date or expected year of chief academic officer approval. Additionally, 224 (or 97%) of the references were also peer reviewed. I included 208 (or 90%) references that were peer reviewed and published between 2015 and 2019.

Brief History of the Nature of the Oil and Gas Industry

The global economy is expanding various fields, including oil and gas (Rony & Suki, 2017). In 2014, oil prices were more than \$100 per barrel, which made the oil and gas industry appear to be stable (Motilewa et al., 2018). One challenge for the oil and gas industry leaders was recruiting specialized employees when the oil prices were high (Motilewa et al., 2018). In late 2015, the oil price plummeted to a 6-year low, which was below \$50 per barrel (Motilewa et al., 2018). With the low oil prices, Motilewa et al. (2018) indicated that a new challenge existed in the oil and gas industry and that was retaining skilled, innovative employees. Because of global economic instability, many employees in the industry feared layoff (Rony & Suki, 2017). Employee retention techniques during economic downturns can include engagement, creative employee development, employee training, and open communication (Motilewa et al., 2018). Motilewa et al. suggested that employee training can improve retention via increased morale, productivity, and profitability.

Leaders in the oil and gas industry performing employee projections have indicated a considerable demand for gas and oil professionals through 2025; leaders in this sector need to focus on attracting and retaining the skilled employees needed to support current and future operations and growth (Harhara et al., 2015). Employees leave organizations when they are not satisfied with the company or industry, which can result in increased turnover rates and increased company costs (Rony & Suki, 2017). With the specialization of oil and gas industry jobs, many company leaders in this sector are struggling to foster retention and dissuade workers from pursuing opportunities with

competitors (Rony & Suki, 2017; Sarmad, Ajmal, Shamim, Saleh, & Malik, 2016). The oil and gas industry is cyclic (Motilewa et al., 2018). With oil prices plummeting to a 6-year low, Motilewa et al. (2018) stated that the oil and gas industry must contend with the challenge of retaining highly skilled, innovative employees.

Economic Effects

Newell and Raimi (2018) reported oil and gas production in the United States has increased in the past 10 years. The economic effect to local governments related to oil and gas regions of eight states (i.e., Alaska, California, Kansas, Ohio, Oklahoma, New Mexico, Utah, and West Virginia) was significant (Newell & Raimi, 2018). Newell and Raimi found most local governments have a positive effect on local public finances with new revenues coming from many sources, such as property taxes on oil and gas, property and sales taxes driven by the oil and gas workforce, and contributions from oil and gas companies to support local services. The positive effects could vary substantially though because of the diverse local factors and policy matters (Newell & Raimi, 2018). Newell and Raimi stated some local governments, specifically in rural regions, experienced increases in growth and employee retention and noted the social effects from oil and gas production included increases in public finances and local jobs.

Demand for Highly Skilled Employees

Job instability because of plummeting oil prices is a concern for many oil and gas managers (Harhara et al., 2015). Leaders stated employee turnover, whether voluntarily or involuntarily, causes organizations to experience losses in knowledge and human capital, reducing competitive advantage (Sumbal, Tsui, See-to, & Barendrecht, 2017). Oil

and gas industry leaders will experience a substantial deficiency of technical people through 2028 because of employees retiring (Sumbal et al., 2017). Employee retention is essential to the maintenance of competitive advantage (Ajmal et al., 2016); companies that retain specialized human capital can realize innovation and competitive advantage.

According to Rony, Suki, and Chowdhury (2017), increases in oil and gas production since 2007 have led to increases in demands for the specialized employees needed to run oil and gas businesses. Some local governments, especially those in rural regions, experienced increases in employment and employee retention because of oil and gas production, which has positive social effects regarding improving local job economies (Newell & Raimi, 2018), maintaining a healthy workforce, and keeping the oil and gas industry competitive and profitable (Rony et al., 2017). Employee retention can have several positive social and economic effects, including new revenue sources from property and sales taxes driven by the oil and gas workforce (Newell & Raimi, 2018).

Oil and gas company leaders face internal and external challenges regarding employee retention (Craig, 2015). Memon, Salleh, and Baharom (2016) stated that approximately 90% of the top international oil and gas companies face a talent shortage crisis and trouble retaining existing employees for extended periods. Most company leaders struggle with uncontrolled turnover among new employees (Ertas, 2015). Memon et al. confirmed that oil and gas companies face other problems, such as unstable global financial markets balance of supply and demands.

Oil and gas industry leaders should endeavor to retain talented workers (Jauhar, Ting, Rahim, & Fareen, 2017). According to Benton (2016), leaders experiencing poor

employee retention may experience obstacles to the future workforce supply, forcing employers to seek alternative approaches to employee recruitment and retention. Benton and Nica (2016) further asserted that the solution does not lie in simply focusing on monetary rewards because paying employees' high salaries does not guarantee they will remain in the organization longer. Benton and Nica explained that although monetary compensation is a strong performance motivator, it is less effective for retention.

According to Jauhar et al. (2017), the global demand for energy workers continues to grow as experienced workers retire with only an inadequate pipeline of skilled employees available to replace them.

Employees need performance feedback to appraise and regulate their performance considering an organization's strategic goals and objectives (Lu, Lu, Gursoy, & Neale, 2016). Lu, Lu, et al. (2016) posited feedback calls for managers to set specific, measurable, achievable, realistic, and timely objectives. Managers should provide timely employee evaluations to allow workers to adjust their performance and behaviors to meet expectations (Lu, Lu, et al., 2016). Managers should provide employees with realistic and meaningful feedback while instilling a sense of obligation toward performance improvements and participation in organizational and individual goals, which can lead to increased employee retention (Lu, Lu, et al., 2016). Company leaders should use best practices regarding performance appraisals and feedback to retain employees (Cloutier, Felusiak, Hill, & Pemberton-Jones, 2015). Leaders revealed a shortage of labor skills materializing in the oil and gas industry because companies have lost many of their employees to other companies (Clark, Sommerville, & Heron, 2017).

Job dissatisfaction can cause turnover (Li et al., 2016). Organizational leaders are continuously trying to develop strategies to reduce employee turnover (Al Mamun & Hasan, 2017). Krøtel and Villadsen (2016) noted human resource managers are tasked with the recruitment, retention, and development of quality employees. Many organizational leaders do not focus on retention needs but concentrate mainly on business performance (Al Mamun & Hasan, 2017). Organizational leaders supporting poor working conditions and limited opportunities for advancement usually experience high employee turnover (Benton, 2016).

Benton (2016) suggested the effectiveness of retention strategies often depends on the managers' abilities to provide initiatives. Clark et al. (2017) noted that managers should empower employees to succeed and grow rather than solely emphasizing performance with an emphasis on individual success and growth to drive employee retention. Experts have recommended that managers should also be accessible to employees and integrate employee feedback and ideas across organizations (Benton, 2016; Clark et al., 2017). Managers using such management actions can increase employee satisfaction and retention (Clark et al., 2017).

Voluntary Turnover

Researchers have suggested that current literature regarding voluntary turnover emanates from ideas about employees' desires and perceptions of the ease with which they can leave their jobs (Rubenstein, Eberly, Lee, & Mitchell, 2018; Waldman, Carter, & Hom, 2015). Employees may perceive voluntary turnover as a practicable opportunity for growth and happiness (Waldman et al., 2015). The ease of movement is the acuity of

an individual's perceptions of alternative, more satisfying employment options (Lu, Sun, et al., 2016). When employees are not happy at work, they might pursue alternatives (Al Mamun & Hasan, 2017). Boswell, Gardner, and Wang (2017) indicated that disgruntled workers often seek alternative employment, compare alternative jobs to their present jobs, and leave on the condition that alternative positions are better than their current positions. Managers can predict turnover intentions using individuals' job attitudes combined with alternatives (Collini, Guidroz, & Perez, 2015).

An employee's attitude can determine if the employee stays or leaves a company (Boswell et al., 2017). Professional development opportunities can entice employees to stay (Mitchell et al., 2001). Human resource managers across various organizations seek and use theoretical propositions to guide professional development (Sparrow & Makram, 2015). Organizational leaders do not want to lose skilled employees familiar with the organization's operations or who might join other competitors and negatively affect a company's competitive advantage (Agarwal, Gambardella, & Olson, 2016). Shin and Konrad (2017) indicated that losing employees will increase the company's turnover rate. Organizational leaders can incur high employee turnover costs associated with recruiting, selecting, and training new employees (Newell & Raimi, 2018). In addition, a reduction in organizational performance and the loss of customers who formed relationships with departing employees can occur (Shin & Konrad, 2017).

Leaders are faced with voluntary turnover stemming from the notion that leaving a job is prestigious and easy (Rubenstein, Eberly et al., 2018). According to Mobley (1977), the cycle of turnover begins with unhappy employees deciding to explore new

professional opportunities, assessing and comparing those opportunities to their current positions, and leaving their current positions if they perceive the other opportunities as an improvement. Mobley revealed that the decision to quit is the start of the process followed by an evaluation of a position. In contrast, researchers have posited that the unfolding model shows that job evaluation occurs before an individual decides to leave a position (Hussain & Deery, 2018; Lee & Mitchell, 1994; Lee, Mitchell, Holtom, McDaniel, & Hill, 1999). Lee and Mitchell (1994) introduced the unfolding model revealing that employees leaving their jobs may experience shock that contributes to their decision to quit; such shocks can be positive (i.e., promotion to a position with more responsibilities) or negative (i.e., demotion or punishment; Hussain & Deery, 2018).

According to Li et al. (2016), many employees choose to leave their jobs for distinct reasons. People often leave their positions for reasons unrelated to their jobs (Jang, Zippay, & Park, 2016). Company leaders can lose valuable employees if retention strategies are absent (Al Mamun & Hasan, 2017).

Mitchell et al. (2001) stated that many approaches to the study of employee retention exist that address diverse aspects of intentional employee retention activities. Leaders must explore the causes of turnover to retain employees (Collini et al., 2015). An organizational leader should provide employees with rewards, training, and incentives to earn employee commitment (Zhang, Zhang, Song, & Gong, 2016).

Other researchers have investigated the effects of individual influence on turnover (Collini et al., 2015; Demirtas & Akdogan, 2015). For example, researchers found that employees' withdrawal paradigms might predict organizational commitment and job

embeddedness (Coetzee & Stoltz, 2015; Nafei, 2015). Nafei (2015) discovered a holistic approach to assessing employee attitudes relative to job embeddedness.

Job Embeddedness Theory

Job embeddedness theory is an increasingly important concept to explain or predict the relationship between employees and their workplaces, along with the probability of employees leaving their positions for other opportunities (Ghosh & Gurunathan, 2015a). According to Mitchell et al. (2001), the job embeddedness theory is the rationale for why employees remain in their roles at work. The earliest known theorists for the job embeddedness theory in 2001 were Mitchell et al.

Mitchell et al. (2001) researched the dynamics surrounding voluntary turnover. Voluntary turnover is a term human resource experts use to describe the type of staffing alterations that occur when employees leave their positions without abnormal external pressures (Woodworth, 2016). By introducing the job embeddedness theory, Mitchell et al. strived to provide an enhancement of previously proposed worker turnover models. The construct's earliest theorists proposed three facets through which job embeddedness occurs to an employee and the factors that influence the relationship between individuals and their employers (Mitchell et al., 2001).

Pioneers of the job embeddedness theory explain three dimensions under the concept, which are links to people, teams, and groups; fit with job, organization, and community perceptions; and sacrifice if an employee leaves the job (Mitchell et al., 2001). Mitchell et al. (2001) explained the various ways to measure the intent to leave a job position and voluntary turnover. The philosophers stated the job embeddedness

theory can provide reliable and varying results compared to what other theories produced (Mitchell et al., 2001). Mitchell et al. described some common parameters used to weigh an individual's probability to voluntarily leave a role, including available job options, role satisfaction, organizational commitment, and job search.

Lewin (1951) posited the embeddedness part of the concept applies two research-associated ideas: the field theory and embedded figures. First, the field theory is a mechanism to promote the thinking of human perceptual life space whereby elements of their lives connect and are characterized (Lewin, 1951; Mitchell et al., 2001). Lewin professed the identified connections could vary widely in quantity and intensity. Second, Lewin suggested embedded figures are images applied in psychological tests in which the images are fixed behind the scenes and then blend with the surroundings. Mitchell et al. (2001) professed the use of field theory and the embedded images translate into a portrayal of job embeddedness as a web or net in which individuals can find themselves stuck. Mitchell et al. revealed the web or net is what keeps people stuck to their jobs, depending on the number of links present or how tight or loose the connections are to the individual or one another.

The pioneers of the job embeddedness theory show a person strongly anchored to a job has multiple closely bound links not broadly differentiated (Mitchell et al., 2001). According to Mitchell et al. (2001), the constitution of the links can range significantly, which shows many ways of enmeshment. The job embeddedness theory formulators, Mitchell et al., focused on the aggregate degree of embeddedness, but not its singular aspects.

Mitchell et al. (2001) introduced the three dominant tenets of embeddedness as: links, fit, and sacrifice. Mitchell et al. posited job embeddedness theory included elements relevant both in and outside the workplace. The job embeddedness theory construct can be represented by a 2 by 3 matrix (Mitchell et al., 2001). The matrix originates from the three tenets and the two conditions of relevance on and off work.

Three Tenets of Job Embeddedness Theory

Managers can use the job embeddedness theory to reduce employee turnover (Mitchell et al., 2001). According to Mitchell et al. (2001), job embeddedness theory is based on three tenets, including fit, links, and sacrifice. Researchers stated the job embeddedness tenets affect employees on and off the job, such that they can influence both the employee and the organization, the employee, and the immediate community (Ghosh & Gurunathan, 2015a).

According to Mitchell et al. (2001), job embeddedness is comprised of two aspects (work and nonwork) and three tenets (fit, links, and sacrifice), creating a six-dimensional model comprised of work fit, work links, work sacrifice (organizational embeddedness) and nonwork fit, nonwork links, and nonwork sacrifice (community embeddedness). Mitchell et al. posited employees become embedded in their positions when they develop multiple links within an organization and its surrounding community. The more links employees create, the more embedded they become and the more likely they are to stay in their positions (Mitchell et al., 2001). The three job embeddedness tenets are discussed below.

Fit. Fit describes employees' perceptions of compatibility and comfort with their employing organizations (Marasi, Cox, & Bennett, 2016). Hom, Lee, Shaw, and Hausknecht (2017) noted that the multiple and essential aspects of fit include employees' values, career goals, knowledge of present job, abilities, skills, demands, and successes with their employing organizations. An individual's fit with an environment depends on aspects of employee-community fit, such as location, current political climate, weather, amenities, and access to entertainment outlets (Hom et al., 2017). A better fit between employees and their organizations creates more job embeddedness (Rubenstein, Kammeyer-Mueller, Wang, & Thundiyil, 2018).

Links. Links describe the informal and formal connections employees develop or have access to within their organizations and extended communities (Kiazad, Holtom, Hom, & Newman, 2015). Further, direct organizational links include connections to significant colleagues, teams, and groups within an organization (Brown, 2015). Community links are broader and can consist of employees' nonprofessional relationships with social institutions, relatives, nonwork mates, and physical environments (Rubenstein, Kammeyer-Mueller, et al., 2018). As employees increase their links with organizations and surrounding communities, they become profoundly embedded in those organizations (Rubenstein, Kammeyer-Mueller, et al., 2018).

Leaders should enhance employees' professional skills to improve human capital within an organization, increasing employee embeddedness via links (Rubenstein, Kammeyer-Mueller, et al., 2018). Exploring how job embeddedness affects human capital expansion behaviors is important. For example, individuals who invest in their

communities might have less energy and time to invest in human capital development (Lu, Sun, et al., 2016). Lu, Sun, et al. (2016) posited human capital development requires considerable energy and time.

Sacrifice. The sacrifice tenet of job embeddedness theory refers to the psychological and material losses employees perceive they will experience if they break links with organizations and communities (Marasi et al., 2016). Employees who leave their jobs can sacrifice relationships with long-term colleagues, job-related benefits, and experience working on worthwhile projects (Marasi et al., 2016). Marasi et al. (2016) stated additional costs could include moving expenses and the loss of possible job advancement or stability.

From the community side, employees who leave their positions might have to leave attractive homes, safe and desirable neighborhoods, short work commutes, and connections with local friends (Castro-Palaganas et al., 2017). When employees believe that leaving a position will require them to relocate out of desirable homes and communities, employees can become more embedded in their current jobs and communities (Kiazad et al., 2015). The more an employee must give up when leaving a job, the harder it can be for that individual to separate from the company (Allen, Peltokorpi, & Rubenstein, 2016).

Often, managers consider job fit, links, and sacrifices components of job embeddedness theory (Holtom et al., 2006) within and outside of organizational settings (Abbasi & Hollman, 2000; Barney, 1995). While company leaders might control the components within an organizational setting to ensure employees develop high levels of

job satisfaction, the failure to understand how aspects outside the organization affect employees' embeddedness can jeopardize employee retention efforts (Coetzee & Stoltz, 2015). At a time when oil and gas company managers face challenges to recruit and retain skilled employees, managers whose operations affect many stakeholders, including those in the immediate community surrounding an organization, can leverage job embeddedness theory to manage employees and increase retention rates (Coetzee & Stoltz, 2015).

The fundamental concept of job embeddedness includes factors that affect employee retention (Odetunde & Ufodiama, 2017). According to Mitchell et al.'s (2001) job embeddedness theory, deeply embedded employees have multiple, close connections with a company and are more likely to remain in their current position than those with fewer connections. In summary, job embeddedness theory is essential to the assessment of strategies used by managers of oil and gas companies to retain specialized employees (Odetunde & Ufodiama, 2017).

Lee, Burch, and Mitchell (2014) noted job embeddedness enlightens the explanations that motivate individuals to work for a time in an organization. Lee et al. posited the level employees sense embeddedness includes three tenets. Lee et al. revealed the first tenet as the degree to which employees think related to other individuals and activities, denoted as links. Lee et al. suggested the number of committees and teams an employee participates on and the number of coworker's interactions along with the employment duration in their current position, define the standard of connections. Lee et al. introduced the second tenet as the degree of congruence, or fit, between other facets of

life and their jobs. Lee et al. stated that the level to which the job makes use of the employee's talents and skills resulting in the employee feeling appreciated determine the degree of fit. Finally, Lee et al. introduced the sacrifice tenet as when an employee gives up something after leaving the company and loses the connection with other employees.

According to Robinson, Kralj, Solnet, Goh, and Callan (2014), leaders can use job embeddedness to project employee turnover as customary approach variables. Robinson et al. defined the concept of job embeddedness to forecast the employee's routine and discovered that embeddedness had an important influence on staff performance.

Robinson et al. revealed that surveys showed employees with a high degree of job engagement remain often connected with an abundance of societal capital stock.

Robinson et al. specified the connection between fluctuations in employee performance and job embeddedness advancement. Employees with a high degree of job involvement could proactively increase work performance by increasing salaries and decreasing redundancy (Robinson et al., 2014). Robinson et al. demonstrated job embeddedness connects to a positive influence on the innovation of research and development employees in technology companies.

D'Costa (2017) presented empirical research to support the theory of job embeddedness by revealing job embeddedness can predict turnover over, job search, and job alternatives. According to D'Costa, perceived measures may include organizational commitment and job satisfaction. The job embeddedness theory was meaningful to predict turnover and the development of turnover models (D'Costa, 2017).

Felps et al. (2009) tested a model of turnover using job embeddedness and job search behaviors to reveal an employees' decisions to quit based on the influence of the coworker's behaviors. Felps et al. determined that an employees' decisions to quit, or voluntary turnover, could be influenced by coworkers' job embeddedness and job search behaviors. Components of the job embeddedness theory were applied by Felps et al. to explain why employees quit their jobs and that coworkers' behaviors related to job embeddedness and job search play perilous roles in the decision to quit.

Greene, Mero, and Werner (2018) described the job embeddedness theory in sociological literature as the course through which the social relations affect financial actions. Further related to the job embeddedness theory, Thunnissen (2016) used focus groups to explore varieties of economic actions that foster retention. Managers who integrate and expand the employee job embeddedness approach should realize it is a multifoci model (Kiazad et al., 2015).

Drawing on research from Kiazad et al. (2015), managers use multiple antecedents to job embeddedness foci in promoting retention. Such antecedents can include tangible resources such as money, or intangible resources such as time and energy (Kiazad et al., 2015). Individual resources can include an individual's hardiness and resilience or resources from the social contexts, such as family or organizational human resource management systems that facilitate embeddedness (Kiazad et al., 2015). Job embeddedness can relate to the conservation of resources (COR) theory in a sense that employees desire to acquire and protect resources, helping to explain why they tend to embed in a position (Hobfoll, 1989; van Woerkom, Bakker, & Nishii, 2016).

Criticism of Job Embeddedness Theory

Lee et al. (2014) expanded the application of job embeddedness theory beyond organizational and community confines. Lee et al. considered whether job embeddedness theory was predictively valid, noting a critical characteristic of casual indicator models is predictive validity. The original job embeddedness theory, as conceived by Mitchell et al. (2001), was based on voluntary employee turnover; therefore, the most immediate test of the theory should be an actual prediction of subsequent outcomes. Lee et al. noted some researchers separated job embeddedness tenets into two different dimensions, including organizational (on-the-job) and community (off-the-job) embeddedness. Jiang, Liu, McKay, Lee, and Mitchell (2012) and Choi and Kim (2015) found clerical, community embeddedness, job alternatives, effective loyalty, and occupation satisfaction were unique predictors of employee turnover. Comparatively, Lee et al. suggested organizational and community variables both contribute meaningfully to an understanding of employee turnover, making job embeddedness theory a predictively valid construct.

Lee et al. (2014) maintained a promising expansion of research related to job embeddedness and turnover. To be more specific, Lee et al. stated the job embeddedness theory has resonated with professionals in organizational psychology and behavior, via the theory's theoretical and empirical expansion. Numerous researchers have pushed the theoretical limits for the effects of employee job embeddedness regarding turnover (Lee et al., 1999; Mitchell et al., 2001).

Lee et al. (2014) posited job embeddedness theory had been expanded to understand national, familial, and cultural influences. For example, Ramesh and Gelfand (2010) documented how the analytical strength of job embeddedness theory could provide both broad and distinctive views of collectivistic and individualistic societies, from India to the United States. Also, Ramesh and Gelfand studied whether the predictive outcomes of the three subdimensions of job embeddedness differed in India and the United States positing the predictive validity of job embeddedness theory was stronger in the United States than in India, with the links measurement being a superior predictor in India. Ramesh and Gelfand found the predictive validity of employee job embeddedness across cultures and nations.

Misapplication of Job Embeddedness Theory

Ng and Feldman (2012) revealed new applications of the job embeddedness theory, demonstrating the impact on innovation and career growth. Similarly, Coetzer, Inma, Poisat, Redmond, and Standing (2018) posited employee job embeddedness could foster innovation among employees who are in more advanced stages of their careers, because of increased organizational and community embeddedness that nurtures a willingness to share and implement innovative ideas. Also, Ramesh and Gelfand (2010) expanded the job embeddedness theory to the assessment of work-family conflict, finding positive associations between conflict and organizational or society embeddedness. Employees with individualist values are more likely to experience embeddedness than those with collectivist values (Ramesh & Gelfand, 2010).

Although employee job embeddedness has largely been viewed as a positive attribute, some researchers have noted a "dark side" to the theory. Ng and Feldman (2012) argued previous researchers failed to consider the negative outcomes of employee job embeddedness. Ng and Feldman argued increased embeddedness leads declines in the human and social capital over time, which may be the case with organizations that have strongly embedded, low-performing employees. In conclusion, positive and negative views of the job embeddedness theory may contribute knowledge that managers in oil and gas companies can use to reduce the potentially negative outcomes of increased organizational and community embeddedness to improve employee retention (Ng & Feldman, 2012).

Employee job embeddedness has shown positive results in the management of the employee workforce (Mitchell et al., 2001). Ng and Feldman (2012) emphasized the need to better understand the negative effects of employee job embeddedness. More studies about employee job embeddedness are needed to explore the potentially negative effects of embeddedness (Ng & Feldman, 2012).

Application of Job Embeddedness Theory

Researchers examined job embeddedness theory in various studies to determine the extent of retention and turnover. For example, Ampofo, Coetzer, and Poisat (2017) employed the job embeddedness theory to examine the relationship between job embeddedness and job satisfaction. Ampofo et al. used an internet survey to gather the background information and the responses to the various scales such as job satisfaction, job embeddedness, business commitment, and the intent to stay. The researchers

determined employee job embeddedness significantly correlated with the unique variance (Ampofo et al., 2017).

The concept and theory of job embeddedness was prominent in research related to employees. Afsar, Shahjehan, and Shah (2018) examined work engagement, turnover intentions, and job performance via the lens of job embeddedness theory. Similarly, Sender, Rutishauser, and Staffelbach (2018) conducted a quantitative investigation of the relationship between job embeddedness and turnover intentions, using job embeddedness theory. Thakur and Bhatnagar (2017) investigated the mediators of job embeddedness, particularly focusing on social factors that influence individuals' professional embeddedness. Finally, Fatima, Shafique, Qadeer, and Ahmad (2015) conducted a regression analysis to explore the relationship between job embeddedness and performance. The authors revealed a common finding of job embeddedness reduced the likelihood of turnover intention (Afsar et al., 2018; Fatima et al., 2015; Sender et al., 2018; Thakur & Bhatnagar, 2017).

Other Theories Considered

I reviewed and considered several other theories, including conservation of resources theory (Hobfoll, 1989), the Mobley model (Mobley, 1977), and the employee adaptation to work theory (Lyu & Zhu, 2017) before selecting job embeddedness theory for the research. I was able to determine that job embeddedness theory was best aligned for my study by comparing these three other theories. As follows, I provided a brief description of each of the theories I did not select for this research.

Conservation of resources theory. Hobfoll (1989) provided COR theory as an effective framework for examining how the availability of resources affects job embeddedness over time. Allen et al. (2016) stated that the job embeddedness tenet relates to COR in the sense that employees desire to acquire and protect resources, helping to explain why employees tend to embed in positions where resources are abundant. Hobfoll and Kiazad et al. (2015) posited through the COR theory that employees leave organizations to join others who turned over to maintain close ties and access to social resources.

Retention strategies can prevent turnover. When employees enjoy work and become embedded in the workplace, employees might stay. According to Hobfoll's (1989) COR, people strived to build resources to have rewarding and enjoyable lives. Hobfoll posited when people have excess resources, they experience happiness. When resources are threatened, people become unhappy or experience stress (Hobfoll, 1989). Retention strategies can include preventing the depletion of excess resources (Hobfoll, 1989). I did not use the conservation of resources theory because Hobfoll focused primarily on resources, which is not the primary focus of the research.

Mobley model. I also considered the Mobley (1977) model as a potential foundation for the proposed study. Mobley posited that employee dissatisfaction evolves into turnover and constructs a withdrawal decision process. Mobley theorized and develop a sequence of events that often lead to turnover, including dissatisfaction (which results in thoughts of quitting), job search and costs of quitting (which results in search intentions), evaluation of alternatives (which results in comparison of current and

alternative), and quit intentions (resulting in quitting). In conclusion, Mobley presented a model to prevent people from quitting with a focus on turnover. When managers have successful retention strategies, employees might stay. I did not use the Mobley model because Mobley focused primarily on quitting intentions and not on retention.

Employee adaptation to work theory. The final theory I considered was the employee adaptation to work theory (Lyu & Zhu, 2017). Lyu and Zhu (2017) developed a model of employee adaptation to work by investigating how job-related relations affect a variety of behaviors. The researchers found that several factors, including intentions to quit, turnover, and attempts to change the job, negatively correlated with job satisfaction (Lyu & Zhu, 2017). Lyu and Zhu posited employees that do not adapt to a job might experience dissatisfaction that results in turnover. In summary, managers employing retention strategies might help employees adapt to work and prevent turnover. I did not use the adaptation to work theory because Lyu and Zhu focused on how employees can acclimate within the company to prevent turnover and did not focus on retention.

Predictors of Job Embeddedness

Employee-community fit. Off-the-job characteristics, such as physical closeness to extended family, link to professional communities, and community characteristics, can affect employee job embeddedness (Boon & Biron, 2016). Boon and Biron (2016) postulated proximity to extended families could provide individuals with the support needed to manage conflicts and work demands that impede work—life balance. Having family in close physical proximity can promote job embeddedness via frequent contact, emotional intensity, and increases interdependency (Eddleston & Mulki, 2017).

Having an entire family in close physical proximity, including in-laws, might increase an individual's positive community-related experiences, promoting employee job embeddedness (Eddleston & Mulki, 2017). Eddleston and Mulki (2017) suggested that community characteristics might provide resources to staff and their immediate families. For example, a town, city, and neighborhood with vast resources, such as public transportation and good elementary schools, can bind employees and families to residential locales (Kiazad et al., 2015).

Kiazad et al. (2015) professed local professional communities might offer individuals diverse career opportunities. Employees use professional communities to garner career support, gain specialized knowledge, and develop their careers (Kiazad et al., 2015). Employees having access to online and virtual communities can also increase job embeddedness by providing individuals with opportunities to collaborate with other professionals and disseminate and access expertise (Kiazad et al., 2015).

A situation might occur in some companies that make employees more likely to stay. According to Lee et al. (2014), the extent to which a company creates positive community environments can influence employees to stay. For example, efforts by executives and managers to provide staff with resources that embed them in a community might include providing office locations near high-quality schools and in cities with pleasant weather; facilitating access to community attractions; and providing opportunities for staff to become involved in the local community (Lee et al., 2014). Further, when companies foster employee job embeddedness, employees are more likely to stay in their positions (Lee et al., 2014). When managers and executives offer

resources that embed employees in their communities and organizations via competitive benefits packages and mentoring opportunities, employees are less like to turn over (Lee et al., 2014).

Culture. In collectivistic cultures, an individual's desire to leave a job might be the result of pressures from family members to meet specific needs. Such familial pressures can result in the desire to leave or stay with a company to meet family needs (Darrat, Amyx, & Bennett, 2017). According to Darrat et al. (2017), embeddedness is more common in collectivistic cultures than in individualistic cultures, and embeddedness is more predominant in communities than in individual organizations. Darrat et al. indicated that higher levels of community embeddedness do not necessarily predict voluntary turnover, but embeddedness is predictive of the voluntary turnover for some employees.

Language is also important to employee job embeddedness (Nguyen, Taylor, & Bergiel, 2017). Ramesh and Gelfand (2010) stated that in collectivistic cultures, speaking the local, national language in an organization where a different language is primarily spoken, might contribute to increased employee job embeddedness without consideration of people who speak the fluent language. Mitchell et al. (2001) stated that although the effects of cultural differences on employee job embeddedness have been widely documented, significant knowledge gaps remain. In conclusion, cross-cultural investigations are needed to increase the generalizability of the research findings (Nguyen et al., 2017).

Future researchers should consider longitudinal strategies to assess how resource-context fit underpins fluctuations in employee job embeddedness, over time. The issue of time has not been properly considered in employee job embeddedness. Nguyen et al. (2017) revealed that time issues had been analyzed based on the results of the effects of employee job embeddedness at the various stages of an individual's career. Allen et al. (2016) suggested conservation of resources would be effective to consider the testing of the 'resources applicability' in capturing the various changes in employee job embeddedness over a given period.

Nonwork factors. Cucina, Byle, Martin, Peyton, and Gast (2018) indicated the assumptions derived from the empirical studies reveal several off-the-job aspects are important for embeddedness. *Nonwork factors* are mentioned in the original turnover models as influences that include conflicts between work and family responsibilities or attachments (Cucina et al., 2018). Cucina et al. indicated family attachments and individual's work—life responsibilities are related and reported that nonwork factors were directly related to the job attachment and attitudes.

Effects of Job Embeddedness

Kumar and Kavitha (2016) posited rigorous hiring criteria, tuition reimbursement, and socialization can increase employees' organizational embeddedness. Similarly, Nguyen et al. (2017) suggested opportunity-enhancing work practices can increase employees' abilities to contribute to organizational objectives. Further, Nguyen et al. suggested opportunity-enhancing work practices might involve autonomous teamwork that expands individuals' decision-making authority and allows employees to come up

with solutions to problems. Kumar and Kavitha postulated such practices could promote employee embeddedness and retention by demonstrating job stability and an employers' understanding of employees' needs.

Darrat et al. (2017) suggested employee job embeddedness may significantly affect turnover even when active commitment and job satisfaction are present. Jauhar et al. (2017) revealed employee job embeddedness accounts for the increase in the variance of actual turnover as well as turnover intention. Rodriguez (2016) discovered poor job embeddedness could spread among employees and result in the turnover. Researchers concluded that evidence exists that several professional and nonprofessional factors might affect employee embeddedness, differently (Darrat et al., 2017; Jauhar et al., 2017). Nonprofessional factors could negatively affect employee job embeddedness and contribute to absenteeism and withdrawal when employees who are occupied by nonwork responsibilities have less time available for work-related tasks (Mansour & Tremblay, 2016). Leaders might use job embeddedness tenets related to professional factors to predict organizational citizenship behaviors and job performance.

Predictors of Retention

The job investment model is derived from the study of the relationship between job commitment and employee retention. Kim and Kang (2015) suggested commitment might predict job turnover, as commitment factors including the quality of available alternative jobs, job rewards, and job investments. Theoretically, the aspects of job investment include factors such as training, retirement programs, years of service, and resources related to the job, such as friends and accommodations (Kim & Kang, 2015).

Person-organization fit. An individual's fit with a job or organization can also predict retention. Boon and Biron (2016) suggested the ideas of person-organization fit and person-job-fit provide a framework for understanding the constructs of employee job embeddedness. Further, Boon and Biron stated the constructs from the capability perception align the values and personality traits of an individual with an organization's strategic goals, culture, and values. Person-organization fit is based on the degree of similarity that exists between an organization's values and those of an individual worker (Boon & Biron, 2016). The dimension of person-organization fit is also used to consider how closely individuals perceive themselves to fit in with coworkers, the culture of their organization, and their workplace (Boon & Biron, 2016).

Boon and Biron (2016) suggested the concept of constituency commitment also aligns with employee job embeddedness in the sense that it assumes the fundamentals of individuals begin by considering the legal framework. Constituency commitment could be described as the process of identification with the objectives of the various constituents (Boon & Biron, 2016). The emerging question that Boon and Biron presented was, how attached are individuals to their corporate leaders and workmates? To conceptualize the idea of links-organization, the focus is on attachments that are fundamentally the development of time on the job to the embedded individual (Boon & Biron, 2016). Finally, Boon and Biron summarized the links-organization concept involves the assessment of the length of time an individual is working for a given organization along with coworkers and teams the person is involved.

Job satisfaction, organizational commitment, and leadership. Three commonly examined constructs in job retention are job satisfaction, organizational commitment, and leadership. Leaders could use job satisfaction to predict retention via the creation of a sense of professional stability among employees, fostering a preference to remain in partnership with present employers (Manz, 2015). The personal happiness of employees may result from engagement with meaningful work. The oil and gas industry is integral to the global economy. Rony and Suki (2017) stated the economic turmoil characteristic of the oil and gas industry creates a sense of job instability among employees that can significantly hamper satisfaction. Managers using clear internal communications might also affect job satisfaction among oil and gas industry employees (Rony & Suki, 2017). Internal marketing practices that include clear communications might help companies retain highly valued employees.

Like satisfaction, leaders many use organizational commitment to predict retention. Often, managers do not strategically use organizational commitment to their advantage (Manz, 2015). Factors in employee job embeddedness are organizational commitment (Kim & Kang, 2015) and retention (Hassan, Hassan, Din Khan, & Naseem, 2011). Hassan et al. (2011) found that organizational commitment was an important indicator of turnover intention, suggesting that retention works best when employees had clarity of the company's values, received encouragement, trusted management, no favoritism is showed, received flexible work hours, established a personal development plan, and operated safely.

In contrast, a committed employee might remain with a company through good and tough times and will protect the company's assets and shares, with time they also improve their performance (Sarmad et al., 2016). Employee commitment might foster improved relationships with subordinates and managers. Any steps that organizational leaders take to improve employee retention is achievable if employees are supportive (Sarmad et al., 2016).

Leadership is also a strong predictor of employee retention as observed by Popli and Rizvi (2016). Popli and Rizvi (2016) revealed that leadership styles and strategies could affect retention. Training and development are important aspects of employee retention. Popli and Rizvi summarized retention methods as including productive orientation, informative training sessions, motivation, encouraging leadership, fostering employee engagement, and implementing employee feedback. Researchers suggested that managers who demonstrate an effective leadership style can guide employees and provide support for desired goals while monitoring employee work (Hayward, Bungay, Wolff, & MacDonald, 2016; Popli & Rizvi, 2016). Popli and Rizvi stated that leadership activities play a significant role in improving employee retention. Similarly, Hayward et al. posited that positive leadership could promote retention.

Organizational fit and social capital. Organizational fit and social capital are two social-related constructs that may influence an employee's job embeddedness. The degree to which an employee feels supported by an employing organization can also influence retention (Darrat et al., 2017). Kulkarni, Lengnick-Hall, and Martinez (2015) examined how employers define overqualification and mismatched qualifications, and

whether they considered hiring applicants who did not possess the education and experience required for a position. The researchers reported that hiring managers were willing to interview and hire individuals with less education or experience if they possessed sufficient compensatory experience (Kulkarni et al., 2015). However, Kulkarni et al. stated that ensuring individuals possess necessary education and experience before hiring them will lead to improvements in retention, as it will foster greater growth and upward mobility among internal employees, lessening the likelihood of leaving to seek advancement opportunities with other firms.

The loss of social capital can also predict turnover and retention (Gutmann, 2014). Gutmann (2014) suggested individuals are more likely to quit if their friends quit because they suffer from psychic costs without their friends. Accordingly, the conservation of resources theory suggests that employees might leave an organization to re-join colleagues who also left in other organizations to maintain close ties and access to social resources (Kiazad et al., 2015). Leaders should evaluate employee job embeddedness in conjunction with other concepts of social relationships.

Career development. Ertas (2015) defined career development, a fundamental aspect of a career journey, as the process of enriching knowledge, skills and adding value during the process of creating a career path. Benton (2016) posited that career development is an effective employee retention strategy. This statement is supported by Cloutier et al. (2015) and Hanaysha (2016), who described career development and employee training as essential to employee retention. When organizational leaders encourage employee career development, organizations and employees might both

benefit. The acquisition of new skills might also help employees feel accepted and valued by their employers. For employers, Hanaysha suggested career development opportunities can assist in the identification of new talent.

Leaders may use opportunities for professional development and career progression as influencers for an employee's decision to stay with a company. According to Lee et al. (2014), employees tend to perceive their company as valuing them if the company helps them develop skills in areas such as leadership and career advancement and offer job security, which are factors that increase retention. Conversely, employees consider themselves devalued when they lack mentoring and training opportunities in the company (Charlier, Guay, & Zimmerman, 2016). According to Charlier et al. (2016), training and development that promote embeddedness must be broad in scope. Human resource managers should not just settle for two or three workshops each year or focus on new employee orientation (Cloutier et al., 2015). Instead, the company leader should have a holistic training policy that promotes development programs throughout the year (Charlier et al., 2016). Leaders using mature coaching systems that create a strong link between supervisors and employees, and trainers and staff, can provide direction and a foundation for a complete training system (Cloutier et al., 2015). Charlier et al. posited training curriculum should have a strong business case and validation for the employees to feel motivated by the skill development necessary for current or expected future jobs. Leaders should incorporate scientific planning to guide the methods, coursework, and content of development programs and well-selected, incentivized, and supervised fulltime internal trainers should be implemented (Cloutier et al., 2015).

Incentives. Company leaders may use motivation-enhancing work practices to direct, energize, and sustain employees' efforts related to work objectives as suggested by Kiazad et al. (2015). Company leaders might use incentives, such as performance pay, to fuel motivation and demonstrate value for, and acknowledgment of, employees' efforts and accomplishments (Craig, 2015). Kiazad et al. stated such incentives can improve employee job embeddedness and retention. Efforts to involve employees in the organization, such as linking employees to multiple company members, offering recruitment packages and benefits, and strengthening job fit, are likely to increase retention (Lee et al., 2014). As employees become more embedded, employees might enjoy other benefits from employing organizations, such as increased social capital, citizen behaviors, and performance.

Benefits and compensation. Organizational leaders who provide employees with competitive salaries and benefits packages can experience increased employee loyalty and organizational commitment because these factors significantly affect employees' decision to remain with an organization (Bibi, Pangil, Johari, & Ahmad, 2017). Employers need to balance benefits to attract and retain high-quality employees (Craig, 2015). Kanfer, Frese, and Johnson (2017) observed that money was the most dominant source of motivation and a strong tool for attracting and retaining talented personnel. However, leaders providing workers with more money might not directly contribute to retention; leaders developing comprehensive compensation strategies that reward employees is essential to retention (Craig, 2015).

Compensation and benefits are the major strategies for employee retention in oil and gas companies (Benton, 2016). Through compensation and benefits strategies, the company leader creates a suitable environment to cater to various employee needs to extend their employment (Benton, 2016). Ajmal et al. (2016) professed compensation and benefit strategies to suit individuals are good strategies for retaining highly skilled professionals. Money is a powerful source of motivation for almost every human being. Leaders offering competitive salaries, pensions, and other benefits can improve employee loyalty and commitment. The researchers recommended strategies to help the leaders of oil and gas selling organizations model effective compensation policies and practices (Ajmal et al., 2016). Ajmal et al. studied the effects of compensation and motivation on employee retention in the public-sector oil and gas organizations in Pakistan and found motivation levels and practical handling of compensation might improve retention.

Work–life balance and work environment. According to Timms et al. (2015), work–life balance contributes significantly to the recruitment and retention of specialized and high-profile employees. The benefits of work–life balance can foster a friendly workplace culture that encourages the retention of high-performing employees (Deery & Jago, 2015). Hofmann and Stokburger-Sauer (2017) defined work–life balance as the state by which an employee is capable of balancing between work and nonwork commitments. Employees with greater job flexibility, which fosters work–life balance, report higher levels of job satisfaction and organizational commitment (Benton, 2016).

Work environment describes the settings in which employees learn and work (Benton, 2016). Benton observed that a positive work environment could foster job

satisfaction, productivity, and retention. Managers can create positive work environments where employees are happy, satisfied, and treated equally. Human resource managers are essential to the creation of positive workplace environments (Deery & Jago, 2015). Hassan et al. (2011) stated flexible work hours foster positive and safe working environments in the oil and gas sector.

Other organizational predictors. Sekhobo et al. (2017) suggested other factors empirically associated with employee retention are organizational. Collaborating on projects can create a sense of commitment to a coworker and organization that might not occur when working in silos (Sekhobo et al., 2017). Many company leaders are leveraging team settings to foster commitment and embeddedness (Kiazad et al., 2015).

Retention in the Oil and Gas Industry

Leaders should understand and learn more about the various, and often personal, reasons for the turnover of highly specialized employees (Timms et al., 2015). Some workers might leave a position after finding a more attractive job elsewhere or because they are dissatisfied with the current workplaces. Consequently, managers must understand these factors to retain employees and maintain a strong flow of skilled (Timms et al., 2015). Managers who fail to retain a skilled workforce can adversely affect individual organizations, as well as the oil and gas industry (Lu, Sun, et al., 2016). Managers should identify and apply effective retention strategies to reduce employee turnover.

Benton (2016) indicated that work–life balance, work environment, compensation and benefits, and career advancement and opportunities are the most significant

concurring that employee retention is crucial for organizational survival. The engagement and retention of high-profile employees are significant challenges to organizations particularly during times of high turnover (Lu, Lu, et al., 2016). Leaders have recognized the general skills shortage has dominated the market, causing challenges for many organizations related to hiring and retaining the best talent (Memon et al., 2016). Employees are the backbone of an organization; therefore, organizations should invest in employee retention (Memon et al., 2016). Managers can contribute to high employee turnover rates, particularly within the oil and gas industry, by failing to design and implement employee retention strategies (Harhara et al., 2015).

Cost of turnover. Employee retention is a common challenge; effective employee retention strategies can be used to minimize turnover (Odetunde & Ufodiama, 2017). Employee turnover broadly costs many business organizations (Al Mamun & Hasan, 2017). Almost 80% of turnover is the result of avoidable recruiting mistakes (Al Mamun & Hasan, 2017). High employee turnover resulted in expenses to business owners in the form of lost time and productivity (Selden & Sowa, 2015). Company leaders who retained high performers, even during disruptive periods of organizational change, experienced competitive advantage (Kumar & Kavitha, 2016). Organizational leaders can maintain a stable workforce, reduce turnover rates, and increase cost-savings by employing retention strategies such as increasing employee benefits (Odetunde & Ufodiama, 2017). Retaining skilled workers also produced significant economic value in the form of human capital (Al Mamun & Hasan, 2017).

Organizational leaders lose human investments when employees leave (Premalatha, 2016). Premalatha (2016) identified the direct and administration costs related to turnover, such as (a) advertisement, (b) processes of recruitment and selection, (c) external recruitment agency fees, (d) costs of psychometric tests and assessments, (d) background investigations, (e) orientation programs, (f) initial learning programs, (g) onthe-job training, (h) employee referral bonuses, (i) joining bonuses, (j) accommodation and facilities provided to the employees, (k) relocation allowances, (l) redundancy pay, (m) benefits and services offered, (n) payroll administration, (o) mentoring and coaching, (p) medical examinations, and (q) other training programs. Premalatha explained that organizations benefit from retaining employees and may lose the benefits when employees leave.

Premalatha (2016) stated the cost of termination, replacement, vacancy, and learning curve productivity are equivalent of at least 6 months of a nonexempt employee's pay and benefits, or 1 year for a professional or a manager. Selden and Sowa (2015) posited the combination of pay, benefits, contingents, absence, and turnover produces a total cost of human capital for the organization. The costs associated with retention can create declines in organizational performance (Lu, Sun, et al., 2016).

Reasons for high turnover. Reducing employees' turnover intentions is an ongoing goal of many companies (Kim & Fernandez, 2017). Harhara et al. (2015) predicted the reasons for employee turnover in the oil and gas industry in the United Arab Emirates. Harhara et al. described the rationale on the measurement of turnover intentions as a predictor of turnover, as well as a predecessor of actual employee turnover.

Researchers revealed employee empowerment has negative direct and indirect effects on turnover intentions (Kim & Fernandez, 2017). Individual employee characteristics, employee attitudes, organizational conditions, and managerial practices might influence employees' intentions to leave a position, as well as an organization's actual turnover rates (Premalatha, 2016). Leaders using formal managerial policies might reduce employee turnover intention (Afsar et al., 2018). Harhara et al. aligned with study findings carried out by other theorists on the multiple methods used to predict turnover, such as job satisfaction, organizational commitment, and work stress. Harhara et al. acknowledged that further testing by both academics and practitioners is needed to be effectively used industrywide.

Sumbal et al. (2017) suggested that the knowledge retention actions were inconsistent with many oil and gas companies, and gaps were found in knowledge loss from aging employees because of the plummeting oil prices and layoffs. Sumbal et al. found that oil prices were a significant influence in the oil and gas industry concerning workforce and knowledge retention issues. Researchers stated political conditions and the geographical locations of companies could affect knowledge retention actions (Sumbal et al., 2017).

Expatriation and repatriation. The nature of oil and gas companies' is different from many other industries because the location of the oil and gas fields determine the mode of employment for many workers. Specifically, exploration, drilling, production, refining, transportation, and the lack of skilled workforce overseas mean that a multinational corporation must place numerous employees in different continents from

the country where companies recruit the skilled workers (Sluyterman, 2017). Leaders managing expatriate professionals working in other countries can become complex because of the different contexts of providing the organizational, career, and community embeddedness (Andresen, 2015). Sluyterman (2017) suggested expatriates often express concerns over the loss of close relationships with families and friends in the host-country and increased dissatisfaction can lead to high turnover and delay or failure of overseas investment. Andresen posited any intention to leave the job could present exorbitant costs to a company because of the time and money required to recruit, train, and place an expatriate. Employee job embeddedness is a critical determinant of how managers can focus on availability or lack thereof of necessary fit and links overseas and the impact on the employees' willingness to stay as an expatriate (Andresen, 2015).

Although expatriation can be exciting for employees, managers revealed difficulty in expatriation preventing turnover among expatriated workers because of the challenges associated with working overseas (Sluyterman, 2017). To be more specific, living in new countries can bring a new way of life from drinks, food, rituals, and habits that can excite an employee; however, not all experiences will be positive, and expat problems might arise. Common difficulties with expatriate roles are cultural differences, loneliness, cost of living, finding optimum health care, learning a new language, finding proper schools for the kids, and relationship problems (Andresen, 2015). Some employees underestimated challenges faced by expatriates can involve running away from the challenges back at home, inadequate preparation, and inability to choose the right friends in the host country (Hussain & Deery, 2018).

Another important aspect that may influence job embeddedness is culture shock. Zhu, Wanberg, Harrison, and Diehn (2016) argued that a considerable number of expatriates could express concerns of shock from the inability to adjust to the culture in the new country. Culture shock can have direct effects on employee dissatisfaction and those who experience shock might fail to fully embed because of the increased cultural demands and the need for proactive tactics for adjustment (Bose, 2016). For example, the struggle of learning the new language is often a burden, and the realities of cultural changes can create an unexpected shock for expatriates (Zhu et al., 2016). Employees experiencing shock may develop psychological problems that affect their health and ability to adjust (Bose, 2016). Conversely, some expatriate roles including oil exploration, can exist for years which means that employees must adopt the norms, values, and cultures of the host country (Zhu et al., 2016). Bose (2016) suggested employees with new roles could lead to a cycle of moving across continents which can become a concern and cause family problems from differences in religion, values, and norms and the need to adjust every 5 to 10 years.

Managers should hire employees who express flexibility, and train employees before, during, and after placement (Durrani & Rajagopal, 2016). Hiring managers can also train employees on processes to ease adjustment (Durrani & Rajagopal, 2016). The provision of local content, such as television programs, listening to the radio, and living with locals, can help expatriates adjust (Zhu et al., 2016). Hiring managers can implement a wide range of resources to facilitate a faster adjustment (Durrani & Rajagopal, 2016).

The loss of close and significant relationships has remained a number one challenge for all expatriates (Lee et al., 2014). Andresen (2015) postulated the loss of a persons' support network could be emotionally overwhelming for young expatriates who are single or raising young children. Even employees who move with a spouse can experience problems if a partner's family is unhappy or if the partner struggles to adjust (Andresen, 2015).

Expat employees should have a community support system and embed themselves in the community. Lee et al. (2014) argued that expatriated community embeddedness is often associated with individuals' interactions with their significant others, those that create an international identity in their present place of work, or those working in other companies in the host country. Lee et al. stated job embeddedness might never occur because of the cultural distance between the host country and home, different international assignments, and the length of the assignment last.

Challenges. Benton (2016) highlighted age-related factors cause experienced employees to work for shorter periods of approximately 5 to 10 years. Fewer skilled professionals are in the pipeline to replace aging workers (Benton, 2016). Employee retention is a critical challenge facing human resource managers of oil and gas organizations around the world as stated by Sarmad et al. (2016). Many oil and gas leaders continue to have an ongoing shortage of highly skilled employees and worker shortages remain significant concerns (Timms et al., 2015).

During a study on employee retention in the Malaysian energy industry, Sarmad et al. (2016) found that gaining employee commitment and internal promotion were the

strongest predictors of retention. Leaders who fail to manage employee retention may see negative effects on productivity, profitability, and growth (Sarmad et al., 2016). In the oil and gas industry, leaders should improve employee retention strategies to ensure that existing skilled employees stay in their positions to carry out organizational operations (Timms et al., 2015). Oil and gas industry leaders are dependent on resources that frequently fluctuate in costs, making it difficult to offer consistent increases in salaries (Sarmad et al., 2016).

Hassan et al. (2011) suggested that employee retention is fundamental to the long-term health of organizations. Hassan et al. posited that resources must be maximized to create competitive advantage, and employees must be retained to foster organizational efficiency. When talented employees leave an organization, innovation, customer satisfaction, historical knowledge, and profitability are negatively affected because of the employee replacement costs the organization must absorb (Hassan et al., 2011).

Job Embeddedness in the Oil and Gas Industry

Successful oil and gas industry leaders require a skilled workforce of scientists and engineers; the potential human capital shortage from the retirement of aging workers and the lack of available talent for its replacement pose a threat to industry survival and expansion (Sumbal et al., 2017). Oil and gas industry leaders have emphasized strategies to increase employee job embeddedness. Sumbal et al. (2017) observed how the emphasis on job fit directed leaders from oil and gas companies to perceive value in graduate recruitment over midcareer hiring. Managers view new graduate recruits as more critical

business drivers than midcareer prospects, which offer unsustainable, short-term solutions (Fulgence, 2015).

Leaders using a structured recruitment process may recruit employees with strong job fit (Woodworth, 2016). Company leaders use recruitment agencies to fill open job positions. Often, such recruitment agency leaders are not compatible with the company's needs (Porter, Woo, & Campion, 2016); because the way a company leader specifies employee characteristics, recruitment and selection processes, and the job offer proposed to selected employees can predict employee embeddedness (Porter et al., 2016).

Recruitment is a unique aspect of employee job embeddedness, because organizational leaders can use hiring criteria to target individuals who possess the characteristics most likely to foster embeddedness (Woodworth, 2016). Hiring managers who set high hiring standard can determine the worth of an applicant before, during, and after an interview (Porter et al., 2016). Setting unwavering hiring standards allow company leaders to onboard personnel who organize exceed employers' expectations (Dai & Liu, 2015). Mazzei, Flynn, and Haynie (2016) suggested the company's hiring managers search for job candidates. Leaders must use successful efforts to discover the right talent and employee fit including using social platforms and connecting with professional associations to attract applicants who are most likely to fit with an organization (Dai & Liu, 2015). Leaders should offer future employees a reason to join the company by providing role clarity and the salary, inclusion with other teams, and interaction with other people can assure the company of high employee job

embeddedness (Krøtel & Villadsen, 2016). A company leader can encourage increased job embeddedness by adopting a well-grounded retention strategy.

Bermiss and Greenbaum (2016) used social embeddedness to explore the inconsistent role that individual level embedded relationships have on employee retention. Dai and Liu (2015) concluded that employees would stay at a company rather than follow a manager that leaves to go to another company. Leaders use embeddedness to predict employees leaving when managers stay but lose predictability advantage when managers leave to go to another company (Bermiss & Greenbaum, 2016).

Summary

Managers can use job embeddedness theory tenets to enhance the feeling of employee commitment. Managerial use of job embeddedness tenets can reduce the negative effects of a challenging work environment (Duffield et al., 2014), resulting in improved employee retention. Leaders may use employee job embeddedness to play an important role in retention, adapting to the negative behaviors, and preserving the benefits achieved. Yarbrough et al. (2017) suggested job embeddedness theory tenets can be used as an effective framework to enhance relationships between workers and corporate leaders, resulting in improved employee job embeddedness. Leaders should increase the focus on the dimensions of employee job embeddedness and employee commitment.

Leaders might use organizational culture to encourage employee job embeddedness. Leaders who improve organizational culture can be achieved through supporting the mutual trust between organizational leaders and the leadership of the employees, as higher levels of employee job embeddedness can reduce impacts to the work environment (Cloutier et al., 2015). Yarbrough et al. (2017) postulated organizational culture could be achieved by increasing the capacity of employee job embeddedness by developing relationships with other stakeholders within and outside of the organization.

I provided a way to understand how employees become part of the organization to increase or decrease the motivation to leave through the job embeddedness theory. I explained the three tenets of the job embeddedness theory including links, fit, and sacrifice. I applied the organizational and community contexts to demonstrate how managers in oil and gas companies develop strategies to motivate employees to stay. Lee et al. (2014) postulated employee job embeddedness could apply to various settings, including individuals working in domestic or international places. The stronger the tenets across the two contexts, the higher the potential of retaining employees (Ghosh & Gurunathan, 2015a). Researchers indicated a shortcoming of the job embeddedness theory emphasizing that the theory can have a negative impact on social and human capital development after employees have remained in the organization for an extended time (Marasi et al., 2016).

Transition

In Section 1, I provided an overview of employee retention, particularly the issues and problems challenging businesses developing employee retention strategies. Leaders in businesses, such as oil and gas companies, develop employee retention strategies for many reasons producing different results. Replacement costs for high-level or highly

specialized employees are as much as 400% of employees' annual salaries (Bose, 2016). I conducted a multiple qualitative case study of five hiring managers and three engineering managers from four oil and gas companies in a metropolitan city in the southern United States, to explore strategies to retain specialized employees. A multiple qualitative case study was the most appropriate method for answering the research question of what strategies do oil and gas company managers employ to retain specialized employees? The job embeddedness theory as offered by Mitchell et al. (2001) provided a way to understand how employees become part of the organization and encounter less or more motivation to leave. Oil and gas company managers who understand the potential associated costs of employee turnover can develop improved strategies for retaining specialized employees to reduce turnover costs.

Section 2 includes details of the research procedure and explanation of the role of the researcher, participants, research method and design, population and sampling, ethical research, data collection instruments and techniques, data organization technique, data analysis, and how to assure reliability and validity. In Section 3, I include the presentation of the findings from the study, applications to professional practice, implications for social change, recommendations for action, recommendations for further research, personal reflections, summary, and conclusion.

Section 2: The Project

In this section, I provide details of this study beginning with a review of the purpose of the study, followed by a discussion of the role of the researcher, a description of the participants, and a presentation of the research method and design. I detail the population and sampling strategies, ethical procedures, and the strategies for data collection and analysis. The reliability of data, referred to as trustworthiness in qualitative research, is also outlined. The section concludes with a transition to Section 3.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore the successful strategies that oil and gas company managers use to retain specialized employees. The specific population for the study was eight managers from four oil and gas companies in a metropolitan city in the southern United States, which included five hiring managers and three engineering managers who had demonstrated success in retaining specialized employees. The implications for social change include catalyzing increased awareness to local people on the evolving elements surrounding their jobs, thereby improving their career and financial stability and providing opportunities for growth within the oil and gas industry for the specialized employees in a metropolitan city in the southern United States. If specialized employees stay in their roles instead of leaving for a different industry, leaders may improve promotion from within the oil and gas industry, reduce a metropolitan city in the southern United States area's unemployment rates, and improve local job economies. When the local economy improves, local governments increase their

tax base, resulting in more tax revenue that could be used to make improvements in the local community.

Role of the Researcher

The role of the researcher includes securing qualified participants, planning and undertaking a study ethically, interpreting topic knowledge through interviews, developing study conclusions, and being an intuitive listener (Thorpe et al., 2018; Yin, 2018). I collected and analyzed data objectively to employ the strategies used by Mitchell et al. (2001) for establishing the reasons for employee retention in the oil and gas industry. McCurdy and Uldam (2014) suggested being unbiased when collecting and analyzing participant data. As the researcher, I was the primary data collection instrument and received, understood, and inferred the data as described by other scholars (i.e., Hoogland et al., 2016; Johnston, 2017; McCusker & Gunaydin, 2015; Ranney et al., 2015). I concentrated on identifying supporting study evidence and themes using openended interview questions to gather data, adding richness and depth to my study. Palinkas et al. (2015) discussed using open-ended interview questions as a data gathering tool to contribute richness and depth in quantitative studies. I obtained and reviewed supplementary data sources, such as company documentation or materials, and observations regarding the participants' nonverbal cues. Yin (2018); Mayer (2015); and Sykes, Verma, and Hancock (2018) suggested acquiring and reviewing multiple data sources.

I used business card contact information obtained at professional networking conferences for oil and gas practitioners and referrals from oil and gas hiring and

engineering managers in my professional network to gain access to qualified study participants. A study invitation and consent form were used to request participant participation. I performed the interview, recorded and transcribed interview data, examined and inferred the data for themes, and validated saturation using the process outlined in this study.

My connection with the study subject regarding strategies that oil and gas company managers use to retain specialized employees stemmed from working in the oil and gas industry for almost 30 years in chemical engineering leadership roles. I had some knowledge about retaining specialized employees. I did not include any participants with whom I have current or former relationships to maintain the integrity of study data. As Way, Kanak Zwier, and Tracy (2015) cautioned, difficulties exist with interviewing participants with whom researchers have ongoing or preexisting relationships. I was mindful of personal experiences in retaining specialized employees and employed an impartial perspective throughout the research process to minimize researcher bias. As suggested by McCurdy and Uldam (2014), researchers must endeavor to be as objective as possible, and such objectivity is easier to achieve if the researcher is not a part of the participating organizations.

The National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research (1978) developed *The Belmont Report*, which is comprised of compulsory guidelines for researchers to ensure all study procedures are ethical and comply with the three fundamental ethical standards. The three fundamental ethical standards in *The Belmont Report* are respect for persons, beneficence, and justice

(National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research, 1978). Respect is the provision and assurance of autonomy (National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research, 1978), which I ensured through obtaining informed consent and assuring subjects that study participation was completely voluntary. Beneficence is a researcher's attempt to provide the most study benefits to participants while minimizing risks (National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research, 1978). The justice principle is the guidelines researchers use to ensure all study procedures are just, fair, and beneficial (National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research, 1978). I obtained approval from Walden University's Institutional Review Board (IRB) before I started the data collection process. The role of the IRB is ensuring all study procedures are ethical and comply with the three fundamental ethical standards laid out in *The Belmont Report* (National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research, 1978). I adhered to all principles of *The Belmont Report* throughout the duration of this study.

Many biases, assumptions, and attitudes can influence a doctoral study (Schwarz, 2014). When researchers fail to take measures to eliminate personal biases, unintended bias might influence study results (Birt, Scott, Cavers, Campbell, & Walter, 2016). I conducted semistructured interviews using an interview protocol (see Appendix), interpreted the data, and shared the interpreted data with the participant as my member checking process to mitigate bias and avoid viewing data from a personal perspective.

Member checking is a process for improving the trustworthiness of qualitative data that involves confirmation of the researcher's interpretation of participants' responses to interview questions (Birt et al., 2016).

Researchers use interview protocols to guarantee solid concentration on the recorded interview (Castillo-Montoya, 2016). Researchers also use interview protocols to help develop trustworthy and dependable case studies (Connelly, 2016). Roulston (2018) suggested that open-ended interview questions encourage interviewees to share information and perspectives with few restrictions. I used an interview protocol (see Appendix) as a guide and ensured all interviews were consistent. The interview protocol consisted of open-ended questions.

Participants

I began the process of participant recruitment upon receiving approval from the IRB by first setting the participant eligibility criteria. Wessels and Visagie (2017) posited that an important eligibility criterion for study participants is experience within the selected topic. The eligibility requirements for my study participants were that participants must have (a) been a hiring manager or engineering manager at the time of the study, (b) possessed a management position in an oil and gas company in a metropolitan city in the southern United States, within the last 5 years, (c) held responsibilities associated with employee recruitment and management, and (d) participated in the development and implementation of successful employee retention policies. Eligibility requirements and criteria for study participants can vary from study to study (Malterud, Siersma, & Guassora, 2016; Wessels & Visagie, 2017).

I used purposeful sampling to develop new measures or strategies by ensuring managers possessed comprehensive knowledge of successful retention strategies for specialized employees at their organizations. Palinkas et al. (2015) posited purposeful sampling might result in new strategies. I increased the trustworthiness of study data by engaging participants from several organizations. Birt et al. (2016) suggested interview participants from multiple organizations increase study trustworthiness. I interviewed five hiring managers and three engineering managers employed by four oil and gas companies in a metropolitan city in the southern United States, to help improve the quality of my research on retention strategies for specialized employees in the oil and gas industry.

Wells, Kolek, Williams, and Saunders (2015) suggested strategies used to gain access to study participants include familiarity with the industry, use of existing contacts and established credibility, clear articulation of the research purpose, and identification of possible benefits to participants. Furthermore, researchers use the following strategies to access participants: discussions in person with participants for full transparency, making all research documents available to participants, providing the ethics approval letter to participants, and providing the participants with updates and regular communication on the study (Tatebe, 2015). Researchers can develop a collaborative relationship with participants by being enthusiastic and confident, and this can aid in participants being willing to participate in research (Cleary, Sayers, & Watson, 2016). To gain access to study participants, I used referrals from oil and gas hiring and engineering managers in my professional network. I also used business card contact information obtained at professional networking conferences for oil and gas practitioners held in a metropolitan

city in the southern United States. Over 300 business cards from oil and gas practitioners were in my possession from such conferences. I sent an introductory e-mail explaining the purpose of my study to prospective study participants.

The participant-researcher relationship is essential to ensure study progress (Hershkowitz, Lamb, Katz, & Malloy, 2015). Researchers use interview protocols to convey trust (McIntosh & Morse, 2015), which may result in establishing a working relationship with participants. I used an interview protocol including open-ended interview questions for study participants (see Appendix) to maintain consistency and to build mutual trust. Roulston (2018) posited open-ended interview questions encourage interviewees to share information and perspectives with few restrictions, which may aid in building mutual trust.

Researchers use several methods to build relationships with and to gain the trust of study participants, including providing a study audit trail, triangulation by the observer, study debriefing, use of member checking, and frequent communication, as suggested by Thomas (2017) and Roulston (2018). I regularly communicated with the study participants to build rapport. Curnin Owen, Paton, Trist, and Parsons (2015) and Hershkowitz et al. (2015) suggested regular communication with study participants builds mutual trust and rapport. I provided all participants with the purpose of this qualitative multiple case study, their participant rights, and the opportunity to revoke participation from the study at any stage.

A researcher can establish alignment between the overarching research question and the participants by employing a suitable research design (Johnston, 2017). Selecting

participants with topic experience and knowledge is important for a successful study (Wessels & Visagie, 2017). Yin (2018) explained the researcher could answer the overarching research question by ensuring study participant eligibility criteria is satisfied. I selected study participants exhibiting successful experience and knowledge in retaining specialized employees in the oil and gas industry to ensure alignment with the overarching research question.

Research Method and Design

Research Method

Scholars posited that qualitative research supports the understanding of the participants' ideas, observations, feelings, and justifications serving as a data source for research (Johnston, 2017; Mayer, 2015). Qualitative research is useful for reviewing factors that shape processes not accessible through quantitative methods (Gutmann, 2014). I used the qualitative research method for this study to explore the successful strategies that oil and gas company managers use to retain specialized employees.

Quantitative research methods are appropriate for examining the relationship between variables (Venkatesh et al., 2013). A quantitative research method was unsuitable because the aim of this study was not to assess relationships between predetermined variables but to explore the constructs surrounding the phenomenon of strategies to retain specialized employees in the oil and gas industry. Researchers can also follow the mixed-method research methodology in which qualitative data are used to inform, evaluate, and interpret quantitative data (Sekhobo et al., 2017). The mixed

method research methodology was unsuitable because I did not intend to use any quantitative data.

Research Design

A researcher may use the case study design as a method of obtaining evidence from organizations, groups, or individuals (Johnston, 2017; Yin, 2018). De Massis and Kotlar (2014) posited qualitative multiple case studies might provide a solid foundation for organizing and presenting empirical evidence. I used a multiple case study for this study to explore strategies oil and gas company managers employ to retain specialized employees. A case study design is appropriate when exploring detailed views (Johnston, 2017).

Other qualitative research designs are the phenomenological design, grounded theory, and ethnographic design. Researchers focus on human experiences using the phenomenological design, on forming theories based on the participants' perspectives using the grounded theory, and on culture and society using the ethnographic design (Tavakol & Sandars, 2014). Researchers use phenomenology as a concept to understand a phenomenon of interest and how the study participants derive meaning from the experiences (Tavakol & Sandars, 2014). Researchers use ethnography to explore the structure and function of participants' experiences within a cultural perspective (Cincotta, 2015; Rodriguez, 2016). The three designs were not suitable for this study because I did not intend to focus on the human experience, theory formation, or cultural experiences. I used a qualitative multiple case study design to address the research question and explore strategies oil and gas company managers employ to retain specialized employees.

Saturation describes the point at which no new information emerges from the data (Saunders et al., 2018; Varpio, Ajjawi, Monrouxe, O'Brien, & Rees, 2017; Yin, 2018). The sample size is determined by saturation in qualitative research (Blaikie, 2018). Fusch and Ness (2015) posited that a researcher's failure to reach data saturation is a failure to meet study validity. I continued to collect data via semistructured interviews until no new themes emerged to reach data saturation.

Population and Sampling

I used a purposeful sampling strategy to recruit eight participants for this study and to ensure managers possessed comprehensive knowledge of successful retention strategies for specialized employees at their organizations. Researchers use purposeful sampling to ensure that participants recruited for a study possess the qualities necessary to provide interview data required to answer research questions (Gentles & Vilches, 2017). Although findings from purposeful samples cannot be generalized to larger populations, researchers use the findings to provide rich, in-depth data (Etikan, 2016).

Wells et al. (2015) recommended articulating the purpose of the research to prospective study participants to identify the benefits of participation. I articulated the purpose of my study to prospective study participants and articulated the eligibility requirements to participate in my study. Engaging a wide range of participants increases the trustworthiness of qualitative data (Birt et al., 2016). I used a study sample size consisting of five hiring managers and three engineering managers from four oil and gas companies in a metropolitan city in the southern United States area. Boddy (2016) and Blaikie (2018) recommended having qualitative study sample sizes between six and eight

participants. The sample size is determined by saturation or the point at which no new information emerges from study data in qualitative research (Blaikie, 2018).

Saturation is when no new evidence or themes result from the data (Fusch & Ness, 2015; Varpio et al., 2017). Researchers should attain data saturation upon the completion of the study (Saunders et al., 2018). Malterud et al. (2016) suggested saturation is the driver for sample size in qualitative studies. Malterud et al. stated ample sample size is when exhaustive saturation is reached by the researcher linking consecutively added information until relationships or themes are revealed during data collection. Wessels and Visagie (2017) suggested establishing the criteria for participants. I established the participants' criteria for my study to include five hiring managers and three engineering managers employed by four oil and gas companies in a metropolitan city in the southern United States. I continued collecting data via semistructured interviews until no new themes emerge and data saturation. I repeated interviews with participants until I reached data saturation. Yin (2018) recommended repeating study participant interviews until saturation occurs.

Eligibility requirements and criteria for study participants can vary between studies (Malterud et al., 2016; Wessels & Visagie, 2017). The eligibility requirements for my study participants were that participants must (a) be a hiring manager or engineering manager, (b) have possessed a management position in an oil and gas company in a metropolitan city in the southern United States, within the last 5 years, (c) have held responsibilities associated with employee recruitment and management, and (d) have participated in the development and implementation of successful employee retention

policies. I selected eligible participants and conducted 45-minute, face-to-face, semistructured interviews using a protocol at a location recommended by the participant. The interview location was the choice of the interviewee. Dikko (2016) recommended interview locations be free of distractions. I ensured the interview location was comfortable and private with no distractions.

Ethical Research

Artal and Rubenfeld (2017) suggested that researchers consider ethical issues, such as maintaining confidentiality, protecting participants from harm, and obtaining informed consent. Further, Artal and Rubenfeld stated that such ethical considerations arose from organized efforts to create standardized procedures to ensure the ethical treatment of human participants. Researchers should endeavor to reduce all risks while maximizing benefits to participants when involving human subjects, as recommended by Artal and Rubenfeld. I employed ethical principles to ensure the protection of all study participants. I followed the guidelines contained in *The Belmont Report* (National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research, 1978) designed to guide researchers on ethical practices for research that involves human subjects. The Belmont Report outlines three guiding principles for research that involves human subjects, which are respect for persons, beneficence, and justice (Bell, Bracken-Roche, Macdonald, & Racine, 2017). I obtained approval from Walden University's IRB, which is responsible for ensuring researchers follow ethical principles and procedures, before starting the data collection process. The Walden IRB

approval number for my study is 04-23-190671644, and the expiration date is February 22, 2020.

Artal and Rubenfeld (2017) suggested that consent is an ethical issue to consider and postulated that participants should be fully briefed on the purpose of the study before being involved in a study. Participants should be fully informed about how and why any recordings will take place and how the information will be used (Artal & Rubenfeld, 2017; Drake et al., 2017; Grady et al., 2017; Paquette & Ross, 2018). I informed participants of the purpose, means of information gathering, and use of the material in a study invitation to prospective participants. I informed all participants of their rights regarding answering none, some, or all the interview questions. In compliance with Walden University's IRB requirements, I e-mailed all study participants my contact information, copies of the informed consent form to sign and return, detailed the purpose of the study and the participant's rights, and provided contact information for the Walden University's representative.

I sent a study invitation to prospective participants, which explained the study purpose. I e-mailed participants copies of the informed consent form to e-mail 'I consent' and return, via e-mail. In keeping with the recommendations of Bhupathi and Ravi (2017) and Doerr et al. (2017), participants may withdraw at any time from a study even after consenting to participate. My informed consent form detailing the voluntary nature of participation addressed the right of participants to withdraw at any point. Participants could have notified me via e-mail or phone if they wished to withdraw, and I would have removed all their study data from analysis.

Researchers have noted providing financial incentives to participants is problematic and may influence the participants to answer the questions in a biased manner (Gleibs, 2017; Largent & Lynch, 2017). I did not provide compensation to participants for study involvement. I will provide a copy of the study results in summary format to the participants. Individuals might be motivated to participate in the study by the opportunity to be a part of research that can improve retention among oil and gas workers, thereby improving professional stability and the ability to provide for their families.

As Artal and Rubenfeld (2017) have emphasized, researchers must consider a range of ethical issues, such as maintaining confidentiality and protecting participants from harm. Researchers should endeavor to reduce all risks while maximizing benefits to participants when involving human subjects (Artal & Rubenfeld, 2017; Grinnell, Sadler, McNamara, Senetar, & Reisch, 2017; Resnik, 2017). Compliance to all ethical standards applied to the completion of this study. I employed ethical principles to ensure the protection of all study participants by following the guidelines contained in *The Belmont Report* (National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research, 1978). I obtained approval before starting the data collection process from Walden University's IRB. I ensured that my final doctoral manuscript lists agreement documents in both the appendices and table of contents.

Allen and Wiles (2015) stated no identifying information of any type should be published to protect the confidentiality of all participants. Rai and Srivastava (2017) recommended pseudonymization to further protect participant data. Wilkinson and

Wilkinson (2017) posited researchers allow participants to choose their pseudonyms resulting in increased participation. In keeping with these findings, I protected the identities of all participants in my study and study site organizations via a pseudonym. I did not retain a link between participants' pseudonyms and the participants' actual names so that confidentiality was maintained. I have planned to store all study data on my password-protected computer for 5 years, as required by Walden University. I have planned to hire a company to destroy all study data after 5 years.

Data Collection Instruments

Researchers use study instruments to provide systematic ways to collect and assess data from a variety of sources (Rimando et al., 2015; Schoenherr, Ellram, & Tate, 2015). As the primary data collection instrument, the researcher receives, understands, and infers the data (Ranney et al., 2015; Fusch, Fusch, & Ness, 2017). Accordingly, I was the primary data collection instrument during the research. I used face-to-face, semistructured interviews with open-ended questions following my interview protocol (see Appendix) as the primary data collection instrument. The objective is to have multiple sources of evidence to support study findings (Sykes et al., 2018). I included participants' nonverbal cues as observations collected in an observation journal and company documents or materials as tertiary data collection instruments.

According to Yin (2018), researchers should format interviews for qualitative research in a semistructured manner, so interviews contain a predetermined set of questions and provide the interviewer with opportunities to ask additional probing questions. Varying the structure and formality of interview protocols allows the

interviewer to gather richer, more in-depth responses (Babb, Birk, & Carfagna, 2017; Thy, Asano, & Finlayson, 2015). I allowed participants' responses to protocol questions to guide probing, follow-up questions. Since observations by the interviewer document the thick, rich contextual descriptions of the interview as data (Finlay & Bowman, 2017; Phillippi & Lauderdale, 2018), I used my observation journal to record information about the setting, time flow, and behavior during the interviews. Sykes et al. (2018) recommended requesting organizational documentation from study participants to support data collected from participants. Researchers repeatedly read company documents to interpret the meaning and identify relevancy and alignment based on other collected documents (Elias, Hendlin, & Ling, 2018). I asked participants if they had company materials to support responses to interview questions as evidence to bolster study findings. Leung (2015) stated reliability involves following analytical procedures. I followed the interview protocol (see Appendix) when conducting participant interviews to ensure consistency and reliability.

Verification is critical to evaluating the quality of qualitative research (Yin, 2018). While observing participants' nonverbal cues as they respond to interview questions is a primary data source, reviewing company documents or materials is a secondary data source (Jentoft & Olsen, 2017). I used both an observation journal and company documents or materials to achieve triangulation.

Birt et al. (2016) posited the participant validation technique of member checking involves providing participants with copies of preliminary analysis to ensure that it agrees with the ideas and sentiments participants intended to convey during their interviews.

Member checking is useful for obtaining participants' approval for useful quotations, case studies, or when anonymity cannot be guaranteed (Thomas, 2017). Marshall and Rossman (2016) prescribed allowing participants to review interview data summaries to ensure accuracy and dependability. I conducted a member checking interview to validate the interview data. I provided my interpretation of participants' answers to interview questions to participants and asked participants to verify the accuracy of my interpretation of their answers.

Data Collection Technique

The use of an interview protocol improves the focus and consistency of participant interviews (Castillo-Montoya, 2016; Heydon & Powell, 2018). Researchers using interview protocols help improve the trustworthiness of qualitative data to create dependable case studies (Connelly, 2016). I used an interview protocol for answering the research question of what strategies do oil and gas company managers employ to retain specialized employees? I began the process of identifying participant meeting study requirements upon approval from the IRB. I started the process by using a study invitation and delivering an informed consent form. I conducted semistructured, face-to-face interviews using an interview protocol (see Appendix). I used the same interview protocol for each participant to preserve the quality of data and ensure a consistent, systematic approach to data collection. My interview protocol contained details of the processes that I followed during interviews, including (a) explaining the purpose of the study, (b) obtaining a signed participant consent form, (c) interview set up and testing the recording device, (d) assigning participant code in observation journal, (e) asking the

interview questions, (f) documenting participants' nonverbal cues in a journal, (g) asking the follow-up questions, and (h) closing and scheduling member checking interview. Standardized questions via one-on-one interviews help prevent bias and allow the researcher to ask clarifying questions (McIntosh & Morse, 2015; Thy et al., 2015). Participants' responses to the seven standardized interview questions served as the primary study data.

As recommended by Neal, Neal, VanDyke, and Kornbluh (2015), audio recording enables researchers capture rich detail and maintain precise details of the interview for data analysis. Researchers using recording devices in qualitative studies receive unbiased and factual data for future analysis (Nordstrom, 2015). Further, researchers may use a journal for documenting observations regarding the participants' or notes on the interview environment, actions, and nonverbal prompts not captured while audio recording thus supplementing the audio interviews (Sutton & Austin, 2015). I used the Sony ICD-PX370 digital recording device to record interviews. The voice recorder application on my iPhone served as a backup recording device. I set-up and tested the equipment and used the voice recorder application on my iPhone as a backup recording device. I exported audio recordings to my Mac computer using the dictation feature on the computer and using the Mac computer transcription application to transcribe interviews, verbatim. I captured observations regarding the participants' nonverbal cues data before and during interviews in my observation journal to document nonverbal and nonauditory data. I used the data captured in my observation journal, along with company materials and documents, to aid in triangulation and interpretation.

Ranney et al. (2015) and Wilson, Onwuegbuzie, and Manning (2016) argued that noticeable advantages of qualitative data collection techniques are fostering rapport between researchers and participants and helping researchers to understand participants' attitudes, perceptions, and motivations. Accordingly, I endeavored to establish a trusting rapport with each participant to comprehend responses to the interview questions. A disadvantage of the data collection technique involving semistructured interviews includes potential changes in questions and procedures during the research process (Tetnowski, 2015). While disadvantages of qualitative data collection exist, such as the possibility that participants might not be open and honest in their responses (Hershberger & Kavanaugh, 2017), I improved the likelihood of open, honest responses by being transparent, maintaining confidentiality, and projecting a confident, friendly demeanor with the study participants. I followed the interview protocol during all interviews.

Researchers may reach triangulation in a study by obtaining data evidence from sources, including internal and external organizational documents (Fischer & Van de Bovenkamp, 2019). The goal is to have many sources of evidence to support study findings (Sykes et al., 2018). Fahad and Yafooz (2017) suggested the disadvantages of reviewing organizational documents include information that has not been updated due to a company's lack of data management processes. I retrieved documents related to employee retention in the oil and gas industry from the company website to aid in the interpretation of collected data. When participants provided company materials to support responses to interview questions, I verified that the document provided was the current

version available. The goal is to have many sources of evidence to support study findings (Sykes et al., 2018).

During data collection, participants may tell stories during an interview that they see differently later, might deny such stories, and want them removed from the data (Birt et al., 2016; Iivari, 2018). I used member checking to improve the trustworthiness and credibility of the study data. Member checking is useful for obtaining participants' approval for quotations, case studies, or when anonymity cannot be guaranteed, allowing participants to review and finalize data, and serve as coresearchers in the process (Thomas, 2017). I gave my interpretation of participants' answers to interview questions back to the participants and asked participants to verify that my interpretations of their answers were accurate and discussed their findings with them to deepen my understanding of the data.

Data Organization Technique

Data organization technique is categorizing and labeling study data (Annink, 2017; Wolf et al., 2015). The data organization technique for this study included creating a system to track and secure the collected data. I used multiple systems to organize data collected from my research. As recommended by Allen and Wiles (2015) and Stuckey (2015), the identities of all participants should remain confidential via self-selected pseudonyms. I used Microsoft Word to type participants responses and participants observation notes on nonverbal cues. I used alphanumeric codes to protect the identities of the participants. Lahman et al. (2015) suggested using alphanumeric codes to protect participant identities. I assigned each participant an identifying number from 1 to 8,

preceded by the letter EMP (for engineering Manager Participant) or HMP (for hiring Manager Participant). I ended the participant identifier by assigning a lower-case letter from a to d (for each company).

Transcripts must first be prepared from the audio recordings to move from raw interviews to evidence-based interpretations (Bokhove & Downey, 2018; Fitt, 2015). I saved the transcription in Microsoft Word files and have planned to store and organize the data on a password-protected computer and hard drive. I organized the paper data and plan to store in a locked file cabinet for 5 years as required by Walden University. I plan to destroy all study data after the 5 years.

Data Analysis

The four types of triangulation are data, investigator, theory, and methodological, as explained by Marshall and Rossman (2016). Methodological triangulation is using and associating several data types (Fusch & Ness, 2015; Joslin & Müller, 2016). I used methodological triangulation to support the data analysis process for case study. I used multiple data sources to achieve triangulation, including conducting semistructured interviews, making observations of participants' nonverbal cues, and reviewing company documents or materials. Marshall and Rossman suggested using multiple sources of data to achieve triangulation.

Rogers and Carrier (2017) stated an examination of interview data initiates the data analysis process. The data analysis process includes organizing, reviewing, coding, and developing themes (Johnston, 2017; Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Yin (2018) recommended five steps for qualitative data analysis, including (a) preparing and

organizing the data, (b) reducing the data into a manageable set of themes via coding and condensing, (c) reassembling data by representing the data in figures, tables, or discussions, (d) interpreting data, and (e) concluding data by determining finding explanations. I followed Yin's steps in sequential order, beginning with organizing and examining the data from participant interviews, observations, and company documents. I analyzed all data to determine if saturation has occurred. I followed with coding and condensing the audio transcriptions and correlating the coded and condensed data from the observation journal and company materials. I reassembled the data so that the data could be visualized and understood. I interpreted and triangulated data before theorizing and developing explanations.

Müller, Schmiedel, Gorbacheva, and Vom Brocke (2016) and Stuckey (2015) proposed the use of manual coding to identify keywords during data analysis. Ose (2016) suggested the use of Microsoft Excel to assemble qualitative data and identify themes. I manually coded and condensed all the qualifying data, including interviews, observation journal, and company materials, by identifying key words and ideas based on the word use frequency using Microsoft Excel. I manually analyzed data using Microsoft Excel to categorize and cluster key words into groups and sequences so that I could identify emergent themes. I correlated the data with literature and the conceptual framework of job embeddedness theory developed by Mitchell et al. (2001), by recognizing patterns or repeated words. Percy, Kostere, and Kostere (2015) and Cook, Lee, and Majumder (2016) suggested connecting study data using pattern recognition and literature. I included new studies published since writing this proposal in the primary theme

correlating process and prepared a report with an explanation and summary of study findings and conclusions.

Reliability and Validity

The rigor of qualitative research is based on the strategies of trustworthiness, including credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability (Leung, 2015). The quality of data is determined by reliability and validity in qualitative investigations (Spiers, Morse, Olson, Mayan, & Barrett, 2018). According to Yin (2018), research studies should use at least 2 of the 8 strategies for ensuring the trustworthiness of findings, which include (a) prolonged engagement and persistent observation, (b) triangulation, (c) peer review or debriefing, (d) negative case analysis, (e) clarification of researcher bias (reflexivity), (f) member checking, (g) thick descriptions, and (h) external audits.

Reliability

According to Leung (2015), reliability refers to the consistency of analytical procedures. I followed the interview protocol when conducting participant interviews and produced a rich audit trail to ensure consistency of results. I reviewed transcripts of interviews against the audio recordings for accuracy. The use of themes and coding during the study data analysis addressed the reliability of my final study. Yin (2018) suggested using at least 2 of the 8 strategies for ensuring the trustworthiness of findings in research studies. I used triangulation and member checking of data interpretation in my study. Methodological triangulation ensures the trustworthiness of findings by using multiple data sources like semistructured interviews, observations regarding participants'

nonverbal cues, and company documents or materials (Denzin, 2017). Marshall and Rossman (2016) prescribed member checking to allow participants to review interview data summaries to ensure accuracy and dependability.

Validity

Validity describes the accuracy of the findings (Leung, 2015). Member checking is a suitable tool for researchers to validate a study and is based on the participants' contributions (Thomas, 2017). Participants are provided copies of the preliminary analysis for ensuring agreement with the ideas and sentiments expressed during interviews to validate member checking (Birt et al., 2016; Marshall & Rossman, 2016). I used member checking to validate the collected data and to improve the trustworthiness and credibility of the study. I gave participants my interpretation of their responses to interview questions and ask participants to verify the accuracy of my interpretations. Verification is critical to evaluating the quality of qualitative research (Yin, 2018). I used member checking to validate the collected data, which improved the trustworthiness and credibility of the study.

Credibility. The credibility of a study refers to how closely findings align with the description of phenomena provided by participants (Stewart, Gapp, & Harwood, 2017). Credibility is the accuracy of the study findings and interpretations from the participants' original data (Morse, 2015). Researchers can employ several strategies to improve the credibility of qualitative findings, including triangulation, member checking, structural coherence, peer examination, triangulation, and varied field experience (Morse, 2015). I used member checking and triangulation to ensure the credibility of findings

from the research. I asked participants to review my interpretations of their answers to interview questions to ensure I had captured their ideas with accuracy. I encouraged participants to express thoughts and feelings about the findings.

Transferability. Transferability describes how strongly results from an investigation can transfer to other contexts (Birt et al., 2016; Marshall & Rossman, 2016; Morse, 2015). Transferability is the ability to apply research findings and conclusions beyond the study confines to others who did not participate in the study (Hadi & Closs, 2016) by adhering to the data collection and analysis methods as outlined previously in this study. Researchers may employ strategies to improve transferability in qualitative research to acquire validity by providing thick and rich descriptions as suggested by Hadi and Closs (2016). I provided rich descriptions of the research context, findings, and conclusions to progress transferability of my study. I used an interview protocol, triangulation, member checking, and data saturation to support improved transferability of findings and conclusions resulting from this study. I kept a detailed audit trail of all study procedures to ensure validity and transferability.

Confirmability. According to Morse (2015), confirmability describes how data results could be corroborated by other researchers. Confirmability may be improved via study audit trails and following a documented research process (Korstjens & Moser, 2018) and may prevent researcher bias. Hays, Wood, Dahl, and Kirk-Jenkins (2016) suggested researchers provide data transcripts to participants for review to support the study. Member checking, also known as participant or respondent validation, is a technique for improving the credibility of study results (Birt et al., 2016). I followed my

documented research process by using the interview protocol for each participant. I improved confirmability using member checking by asking study participants to review transcription data and my interpretation of study findings and conclusions for accuracy. I verified confirmability by ensuring my interpretation of study findings and conclusions corroborated with other researchers. According to Berger (2015), employing strategies to ensure credibility, transferability, and dependability, improves the confirmability of study findings. I adhered to standards of credibility, transferability, and dependability, and dependability.

Data Saturation. Data saturation describes the point at which no new information emerges from the data (Fusch & Ness, 2015; Saunders et al., 2018). The sample size can determine data saturation in qualitative research (Blaikie, 2018). Collecting adequate data to research the study problem is critical to data saturation (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). I attained data saturation through the triangulation and analysis of data from various sources, including participant interviews, member checking, observations of participants' nonverbal cues, and company documents or materials. I asked participants the same questions as outlined in my interview protocol (see Appendix) until I reached saturation. If I had not attained saturation after the initial interviews, I would have continued to interview participants from the study until saturation was reached.

Transition and Summary

In Section 2, I restated the purpose statement, explained the role of the researcher, participants, and research method and design. I discussed the population and sampling process, ethical research, data collection instruments and techniques, data organization technique, and how to assure reliability and validity through data saturation. I described

the study implementation plan. In Section 3, I include the presentation of the findings from the study, applications to professional practice, implications for social change, recommendations for action, recommendations for further research, reflections, and conclusion.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change Introduction

In Section 3, I provide an overview of the purpose of the study, state the research question, and present the findings. I include applications of my study research to professional practice, implications for social change, recommendations for action, recommendations for further research, and reflections. Finally, in the conclusion section, I provide the closing statement for the study.

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore the successful strategies that oil and gas company managers use to retain specialized employees. I conducted semistructured, face-to-face interviews to explore the perspectives of eight participants who (a) were a hiring manager or an engineering manager, (b) possessed a management position in an oil and gas company in a metropolitan city in the southern United States, within the last 5 years, (c) had responsibilities associated with employee recruitment and management, and (d) had participated in the development and implementation of successful employee retention policies. Other data sources in my study included observations of participants' nonverbal cues and review of company documents or materials. Three main themes emerged from data analysis of specialized employee retention in the oil and gas industry: leadership engagement improved specialized employee retention, flexibility through work—life balance improved specialized employee retention, and monitoring and assessing retention through research tools and data analysis improved specialized employee retention.

Presentation of the Findings

The overarching research question for this qualitative multiple case study was: What strategies do oil and gas company managers employ to retain specialized employees?

Theme 1: Leadership Engagement Improved Specialized Employee Retention

The first main theme that emerged from my data analysis of the interview transcripts highlighted how leadership engagement improved specialized employee retention. The theme of leadership engagement included leader behavior and practices involving the employee. My data analysis revealed leadership style is a determinant of the employee staying or leaving the company. From the analysis of the interview data, I documented three notable leadership engagement strategies associated with specialized employee retention. All eight Manager Participants communicated their experience of how these three conspicuous leadership engagement strategies improved specialized employee retention. The three leadership engagement strategies were making the employee feel valued and appreciated, communicating effectively with the employee, and providing opportunities for the employee's professional development.

Feeling valued and appreciated. Making the employee feel valued and appreciated are leadership engagement strategies that improved specialized employee retention as articulated by Manager Participants in the interviews. The Manager Participants agreed that employees are more likely to remain employed at the organization if employees feel appreciated, valued, included in the company, and recognized for accomplishments. All Manager Participants noted the strategies that they

use for improving specialized employee retention through leadership engagement make employees feel valued and appreciated. If an employee feels valued by the company, feels their importance is valued, or feels their contributions are valued, the employee is more likely to stay employed. Some Manager Participants (i.e., 3HMPb, 4HMPb, 6EMPa, 7HMPd, and 8EMPb) described effective leadership engagement strategies as providing encouragement for growth or showing employee appreciation through gift cards, bonuses, or exposure to leadership opportunities. The Manager Participants' retention strategy approach of providing encouragement or showing appreciation to employees resulted in improved retention for specialized employees as described in the data transcripts.

Several Manager Participants (i.e., 3HMPb, 4HMPb, 6EMPa, 7HMPd, and 8EMPb) described how recognition programs are effective in showing specialized employees that they are valued and appreciated, which contributes to successful retention. One Manager Participant (i.e., 4HMPb) suggested, "each [recognition] situation is different and may be unique, but having a consistent approach is important." One example of a manager's retention strategy to show appreciation for specialized employees is to give them awards based on a point system with a monetary value. Another Manager Participant (i.e., 1EMPa) stated, "they [employees] leave because of not being appreciated" and provided an example of giving specialized employees handwritten appreciation notes with a gift card to show appreciation. Bhowal and Saini (2019) found that employees will stay at companies when hard work is recognized and

appreciated. Rebull (2019) noted employees are inclined to stay longer at a company if appreciation is shown by leaders.

One Manager Participant (i.e., 5HMPb) specified that including the employee in the company plan encourages employees to feel valued and embedded in the company. Another Manager Participant (i.e., 1EMPa) explained, "if an employee feels valued by the company, they're going to want to stay." A third Manager Participant (i.e., 2HMPb) stated, "when people feel comfortable and valued and understand their role, how the role adds value, and how they add value, I think that they are more likely to stay with a line manager and with a company." Manager Participant 2HMPb also provided a detailed example of facilitating continuous conversations with specialized employees to emphasize how their expertise adds value to the company. Manager Participant 5HMPc supported value as a key aspect of retaining specialized employees by communicating to employees the importance of their work being significant and recognized, specifically saying, "one of the most important things I think for any employee is to know they're working on the projects that are important to the company."

Many Manager Participants (i.e., 3HMPb, 5HMPc, 6EMPa, and 8EMPb) suggested another retention strategy to make specialized employees feel valued consists of identifying what the employee desires as incentives, then aligning those incentives with company culture to show value and appreciation. Armstrong-Stassen, Cameron, Rajacich, and Freeman (2014) inferred experienced professionals will stay at companies that create a sense of belonging by making the employees feel that their contributions are valued. Researchers have posited to retain strong performing employees, leaders must

understand the importance of valuing and respecting the employees (Yu, Yen, Barnes, & Huang, 2019).

After reviewing company documents located on the company website, I was able to understand the significance of leadership engagement strategies in making specialized employees feel appreciated and valued. Specifically, I reviewed company sustainability reports of Manager Participants and observed that most Manager Participants' companies had processes in place that make the employee feel valued and appreciated. All four Manager Participant companies (i.e., a, b, c, and d) have processes in place for treating employees respectfully and ensuring processes are transparent. Two of the 4 Manager Participants' companies (i.e., a and b) encourage employees to publicly recognize their colleagues to demonstrate employee appreciation and value. Finally, 3 of the 4 Manager Participants' companies (i.e., a, b, and c) have leadership lead employee resource networks as a resource for attracting and retaining talent.

Study participant observations from the journal that I used to record information about the setting, time flow, and participant behavior during the interviews documented passion exhibited by all Manager Participants. Joy (2018) inferred that active leadership engagement plays a key role when specialized employees are deciding whether to stay with a company or leave. Additionally, Okafor, Ede, Kinuthia, and Satcher (2018) emphasized that leadership engagement is crucial for improving retention programs. It was evident that leadership engagement strategies that recognize employee value and appreciation align with existing literature and knowledge on the topic of specialized employee retention.

Communication. Managers using effective communication techniques was another leadership engagement strategy that Manager Participants articulated improved specialized employee retention. All Manager Participants agreed communication with specialized employees improved retention rates. Most Manager Participants expressed effective communication strategies contributing to the improvement of specialized employee retention included conversations between managers and employees and listening to the employees' wants and needs. Manager Participants described many communication techniques that are used to improve specialized employee retention, such as reducing employee frustration through communication (i.e., 2HMPb and 8EMPb); listening and talking to employees by having one-on-one conversations to understand how they are doing both personally and professionally (i.e., 1EMPa, 3HMPb, 7HMPd, and 8EMPb); constant and consistent messaging (i.e., 2HMPb, 4HMPb, 5HMPc, and 6EMPa); and connecting with employees to build trust (i.e., 1EMPa, 3HMPb, 4HMPb, 7HMPd, and 8EMPb).

Manager Participants used specific communication-related retention strategy techniques. For example, "getting to know individuals" (8EMPb) and "really listening" (1EMPa) show that "we [managers] do care for them [employees]" (7HMPd). One Manager Participant (i.e., 4HMPb) suggested using communication messaging, such as "we value your contribution and we know that you have skills and we want to retain you," when speaking to specialized employees to improve specialized employee retention. Another Manager Participant (i.e., 1EMPa) used communication techniques, such as talking to specialized employees "about what's going on in their world, both

personally and professionally" to "building trust with those individuals" and "following through on promises and commitments" to improve specialized employee retention.

Meng and Berger (2019) posited that the communication style of a manager correlates with strong leadership in practice and aids in increasing leadership engagement and trust.

Communication is the key in retaining specialized employees in the oil and gas industry because of safety and productivity (Neal & Neal, 2019).

After reviewing company documents located on the company website, I was able to understand the significance of leadership engagement strategies through effective communication. Specifically, I reviewed the company websites of Manager Participants and observed that most Manager Participants' companies had robust communication efforts to retain specialized employees. Three of the 4 Manager Participants' companies (i.e., a, b, and c) hold leadership town halls, forums, or meetings to engage with employees on a wide variety of topics. Also, all Manager Participants' company websites included information on the processes used to make time to listen to employees and have open and honest conversations, including having one-to-one meetings with managers.

I used study participant observations from my journal to record information about the setting, time flow, and participant behavior during the interviews. In the journal, I noted certain Manager Participants (i.e., 1EMPa, 3HMPb, 4HMPb, and 7HMPd) repeating and reinforcing interview responses related to communication methods used on specialized employees to improve retention rates. The Manager Participants' technique of repeating and reinforcing interview responses related to communication methods used to

ensure that specialized employees feel connected suggested how important communication is in terms of employee retention. Rony and Suki (2017) posited that managers using effective communication strategies with employees increase job satisfaction among oil and gas industry employees. The more an employee feels connected to the company through the line manager and communications, the more likely the employee will stay (Bauer & Lim, 2019).

Professional development. All Manager Participants shared that providing professional development opportunities improved specialized employee retention. A common factor identified in my data resulting in employee turnover was a lack of growth within the industry and having insufficient opportunities to move forward in their current roles. This factor was discovered by Manager Participants from reviewing employee data, such as exit interviews. Manager Participant 2HMPb described an employee retention strategy to "include having the work experience/opportunity or the environment in which people work in, is more important to the employee."

All Manager Participants deduced specialized employees will remain satisfied, embedded in the company culture, and thus retained when they are provided opportunities for professional growth and development. Examples of employee development identified in the interviews included the company providing professional training (1EMPa, 2HMPb, 6EMPa, and 7HMPd), having developmental conversations with leadership/managers (1EMPa, 2HMPb, 3HMPb, 4HMPb, 5HMPc, 6EMPa, and 8EMPb), and the company providing developmental programs as well as educational reimbursement programs (1EMPa, 4HMPb, 6EMPa, 7HMPd, and 8EMPb). One Manager

Participant (1EMPa) provided an example of how the company provides employees with opportunities for professional development by "giving two weeks per employee of training per year, which can be e-learning, or it could be live courses." Other examples of professional development strategies were provided in the Manager Participant interviews, such as the specialized rotation and development programs (6EMPa) and educational reimbursement programs for advanced degrees (5HMPc, 6EMPa, and 7HMPd).

Researchers have confirmed that managers face a vital challenge in retaining specialized employees, and that managers should support professional development experiences as part of a pragmatic employee retention strategy (Nafeesa Begum & Brindha, 2019). Taib, Krauss, and Ismail (2019) posited professional development programs can motivate specialized employees to stay and continue to grow within the company.

After reviewing company documents located on company websites, I was able to understand the significance of leadership engagement strategies through professional development. Specifically, I reviewed company sustainability reports of Manager Participants, and I observed that all Manager Participant companies have employee professional development programs. Examples of employee development programs that I found on company websites include online and classroom-based courses and resources, a wide range of on-the-job learning, mentoring programs, and performance discussions with annual developmental objectives.

Study participant observations from my observation journal used to record information about the setting, time flow, and participant behavior during the interviews documented hesitation exhibited by three Manager Participants (2HMPb, 6EMPa, and

7HMPd) when referencing professional development. The hesitation in the Manager Participant responses was followed by rich, detailed information on professional development. This observed hesitation aligns with the literature noting that pausing and hesitation in interview question responses allows interviewees time to think about the topic and provide their own interpretation of ways to solve the challenges discussed (Råheim et al., 2016).

Correlation to the literature. The findings from my data regarding retention strategies for specialized employee retention are robustly supported by existing literature. One of the study themes that aligned with the existing literature was leadership engagement as a strategy used to retain specialized employees. Leadership engagement strategy is a strong predictor of improved specialized employee retention, as observed by Popli and Rizvi (2016) and Hayward et al. (2016).

The retention of the employees is strongly linked with the theme of leadership engagement through communication and professional development. This finding from my study extends existing research, in which communication plays an important role in improving the relationship between managers and employees, thus improving employee retention (Raufflet, Cruz, & Bres, 2014). Popli and Rizvi (2016) summarized retention methods as including productive orientation, informative training sessions, motivation, encouraging leadership, fostering employee engagement, and implementing employee feedback. These methods influence employee retention by impacting employee satisfaction, growth opportunity, commitment, leadership style, working conditions, flexibility, and security (Obeidat, Al-Khateeb, Abdallah, & Masa'deh, 2019). It is evident

that the findings from my study appropriately correlate to the existing literature since my study found that leadership engagement strategies, including making the employee feel valued and appreciated, effective communication with the employee, and providing opportunities for the employee's professional development, are important factors and effective strategies in employee retention.

Correlation to the conceptual framework. The leadership engagement theme from my research correlates with job embeddedness theory as communicated by Manager Participants who assess an employee's fit and link with an organization based on the employee's personal values and career goals (Holtom et al., 2006). Embedded employees fit in the company and do not have the intention to leave their employment (Obeidat et al., 2019). An employee's attitude toward the company and the degree to which the employee is embedded can determine if the employee stays or leaves a company (Boswell et al., 2017). As posited by Chhabra (2015), leadership engagement strategies provide managers and employees with the opportunity to develop trust and improve employee retention, resulting in employee fit within the company and job embeddedness.

Matching employee interests with the development of desired skills is a key factor associated with improved specialized employee retention. Professional development creates links and fit between the employees and the company that make them to stay longer with the company (Taib et al., 2019). Employees who are thinking of quitting their jobs can be enticed to stay if they are offered professional development opportunities (Mitchell et al., 2001). Professional development is the connection that links and fit the

employees and the company, resulting in improved employee retention (Taib et al., 2019).

Theme 2: Flexibility Through Work-Life Balance Improved Specialized Employee Retention

Employees experiencing job flexibility through work—life balance are inclined to be satisfied at work. "Leaders should give employees flexibility and that may help with retention," as noted by Manager Participant 3HMPb, who further stated that "employees do not have to be at the office every day from 9 to 5, bankers' hours." Manager Participants introduced flexibility through work—life balance programs as part of a successful specialized employee retention strategy.

Six Manager Participants (1EMPa, 2HMPb, 3HMPb, 5EMPc, 6EMPa, and 8EMPb) agreed that offering employees flexible hours and work–life balance improve retention. The six Manager Participants detailed that flexible work hours offered to specialized employees encouraged work–life balance and helped to retain specialized employees. Manager Participants 2HMPb, 3HMPb, 5EMPc, and 6EMPa stressed that in order to remain competitive, companies must keep up with the times and include flexible retention strategies through work–life balance programs. One Manager Participant (6EMPa) stated, "we're seeing a bigger driver for being competitive on flexible work schedules, and how that pertains to work–life balance" but added, "if an employee's not happy with the work that they're doing, I think that's what leads employees to start to look elsewhere."

Seven out of 8 Manager Participants (1EMPa, 2HMPb, 3HMPb, 4HMPb, 5EMPc, 6EMPa, and 8EMPb) argued in favor of flexible work experiences and for a positive, appreciative environment in the organization. Another Manager Participant (1EMPa) described an effective retention strategy as, "a very flexible work schedule" that includes "2 weeks of vacation when they start, [then] they can purchase an additional 2 weeks of vacation every year." Also, Manager Participant 1EMPa defined a flexible work experience as "the 9/80 program where they get every other Friday off, so they work 80 hours in 9 days [which is] an additional 26 days a year, it's long weekends" as an effective retention strategy resulting in "employees [who] feel, you know, that's a strategy, that's a place that they want to work." One Manager Participant (6EMPa) supported the flexible work schedule retention strategy based on experience as "talking with employees that have left our company," stating "a lot of times they've [employees] said that when they were looking for another company or considering other companies, they were making sure that other companies had 9/80 or 4/10 schedules." Other Manager Participants (4HMPb, 5EMPc) supported the 9/80 work schedule as a successful specialized employee retention strategy.

Manager Participants suggested other specialized employee retention strategies that offer flexibility through work—life balance included encouraging employees to give back to society through volunteerism in the local communities. One Manager Participant (6EMPa) explained that this program "enhanced our number of volunteer days where people get paid to take time off to volunteer for activities [that] they like doing." Another retention strategy used by Manager Participants 6EMPa and 8EMPb offers flexibility

through work—life balance for specialized employees by expanding the parental leave days for males and females, resulting in an enhanced employee benefit program. Manager Participant 3HMPb presented a specialized employee retention strategy that fosters work—life balance by allowing employees to wear casual clothing like jeans to work to create a relaxed work environment. Manager Participants 2HMPb, 3HMPb, and 8EMPb offered another specialized employee retention strategy that provides flexibility through work—life balance by allowing employees to work from home or leaving work early.

After reviewing company documents located on the company websites, I was able to understand the significance of flexibility through work—life balance on specialized employee retention. Specifically, I examined the company websites of Manager Participants, and I observed that all Manager Participant companies have some flexibility through work—life balance programs. Examples of work—life balance programs include flexible working practices that encourage employees to take part in community projects, employee interest networks, and flexible working schedules.

Study participant observations from my observation journal used to record information about the setting, time flow, and participant behavior during the interviews documented long responses, passion in Manager Participant voices, and hand movements when describing successful retention strategies related to flexibility through work—life balance. Niebuhr and Michalsky (2019) and Kratzke (2018) professed that the voice was a strong indicator of the opinions and actions of individuals. These findings align with the notes in my observation journal in which the enthusiastic voice of Manager Participants

correlated with their stated position on the importance of flexibility through work—life balance in retaining specialized employees.

Correlation to the literature. Recognizing flexibility through work—life balance encourages specialized employees to remain in the company for long periods of time. Harhara et al. (2015) attributed the issues of job turnover in the oil and gas sector to the environment, culture, flexibility, and work—life balance resulting in high turnover and poor retention strategies. Timms et al. (2015) and Cucina et al. (2018) posited work—life balance contributes significantly to the recruitment and retention of specialized and high-profile employees. Companies that encourage their employees' social responsibilities by giving them flexibility to perform roles in their communities are in a better position to attract and retain employees (Obeidat et al., 2019). Employees that are satisfied with work—life balance are likely to be retained (Giauque, Anderfuhren-Biget, & Varone, 2019).

Correlation to the conceptual framework. Holtom et al. (2006) posited job embeddedness theory allows for the development of retention strategies that enable employees to fit and embed in an organization, thus improving specialized employee retention. Having family in close physical proximity can promote job embeddedness via frequent contact, emotional intensity, and increases interdependency (Eddleston & Mulki, 2017). The flexibility though work—life balance theme correlates with job embeddedness theory as proposed by Holtom et al. (2006), in that employees who trust in the company feel connected to the company culture and embed in their jobs, and are therefore likely to

be retained. Managers can use the job embeddedness theory to reduce employee turnover by improving employee fit and link to the company as stated by Mitchell et al. (2001).

Theme 3: Monitoring and Assessing Retention Through Research Tools and Data Analysis

Data monitoring may be one of the keys to assessing job turnover patterns among specialized employees. All eight Manager Participants emphasized the need for collecting, analyzing, and monitoring data to improve retention. Four Manager Participants (1EMPa, 2HMPb, 6EMPa, and 8EMPb) suggested performing exit interviews of specialized employees at the time of leaving the organization to better understand the reasons for leaving. Seven out of 8 Manager Participants (1EMPa, 2HMPb, 3HMPb, 5EMPc, 6EMPa, 7HMPd, and 8EMPb) concluded that employee research and surveying specialized employees are important for learning more about successful employee retention. They emphasized that managers should conduct surveys to understand employees' feelings about the company. One Manager Participant (2HMPb) underscored how important employee feedback is by noting that, in addition to exit surveys and interviews, "we also have group-wide anonymous surveys, the poll surveys, that rate people's satisfaction." The Manager Participant continued, "feedback that we solicit, whether that be on anonymous surveys [or in exit surveys and interviews] is the feedback we get from employees themselves." Another Manager Participant (4HMPb) affirmed the relevance of retention data by asserting that, "monitoring the effectiveness of retention can be done by looking at data and see[ing] what was effective, [and] by looking at how many specialized employees stayed and how many left."

Manager Participants review data for the causes of job turnover and strive to develop successful solutions and strategies to retain specialized employees.

Although managers value employee feedback, I discovered that assessment tools are not as quantifiable as they can be. My data revealed that some of these assessment tools, while useful in understanding retention, are not quantifiable. Feedback may be anecdotal or discussed in meetings with employees, and therefore is not verifiable. Employee surveys may be the best way to collect quantifiable evidence for analysis.

Employee retention strategies can be assessed in the larger context of retention data collected within a set interval of time. Six respondents, including 3HMPb, 4HMPb, 5EMPc, 6EMPa, 7HMPd, and 8EMPb, concluded that retention data and analysis are useful for estimating specialized employee retention, and policies should be analyzed in terms of promotion intervals. Manager Participant 4HMPb commented on the retention data by asserting, "monitoring the effectiveness of retention can be done by looking at data and see what was effective; by looking at how many specialized employees stayed and how many left." In contrast, many Manager Participants (3HMPb, 5EMPc, and 6EMPa) suggested the immense challenge for data analysis is that the data set is large, thus requiring leaders to look at data in different ways to see which method is most effective. "Leaders must draw conclusions on employee retention data to create strategies," as acknowledged by Manager Participant 4HMPb.

Assessment of retention data as professed by all eight respondents is the preferred method to monitor and gain evidence-based insights about the job retention rate of specialized employees in the company. Assessment methods used to assess retention data

included assessment tools, key performance indicators, career development plans, training plans, and succession plans. For example, Manager Participant 1EMPa stated that "we monitor ... we have these career development plans, where the employee talks about their jobs, and we're giving feedback to the employees on what we see as their strengths and weaknesses." Managers should follow up and monitor the outcome of the career development plan discussions to develop employee trust and include lessons learned in the company retention strategy.

After reviewing company documents located on the company websites, I was able to understand the significance of monitoring and assessing retention strategies through research tools and data analysis on employee retention. Specifically, I reviewed company sustainability reports of Manager Participants, and I determined that 3 of the 4 (a, b, and c) Manager Participant companies have employee retention monitoring and assessing programs. Examples of monitoring and assessment include frequent employee surveys, exit interviews, and anonymous ways to receive employee feedback.

Study participant observations from my observation journal were used to record information about the setting, time flow, and participant behavior during the interviews documented four Manager Participants (3HMPb, 4HMPb, 5EMPc, and 6EMPa) participants smiling when discussing the employee retention data analysis process due to the large data sets. Smiling gestures exhibit positive energy, motivation, and reinforcement (Gueguen, Eyssartier, & Meineri, 2016), suggesting that these Manager Participants were enthusiastic about gathering and assessing data.

Correlation to the literature. My findings correlate to existing knowledge regarding retention research methods to improve specialized employee retention. Anis, Nasir, and Safwan, (2011) examined employee retention and development, and suggested that the development of employees with specific skills may increase employee retention rates. Barker and Jones (2013) proposed that employee behavior and employee retention patterns in the oil and gas industry are linked to the culture and environment of the company and can be improved through employee feedback. Analyzing and assessing employee retention data through exit interviews, surveys, and key performance indicators are successful specialized employee retention strategies (Boštjančič & Slana, 2018).

Correlation to the conceptual framework. According to Holtom et al. (2006), job embeddedness theory, the fit between an employee's needs and company requirements, can be assessed through data collection tools, including employee surveys and retention data. Holtom et al. suggested gathering exit interview data to improve future retention. Finally, Allen and Shanock (2013) posited company employee data collection on specific retention drivers could reduce turnover rates and improve retention.

Applications to Professional Practice

Employers should recognize their human capital is a significant resource and as a competitive advantage for their organizations (Alias, Nokman, Ismail, Koe, & Othman, 2018). The higher the employee retention level, the lower the replacement costs and most importantly this will sustain the operations and production of a company (Alias et al., 2018). The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore the successful strategies that oil and gas company managers use to retain specialized employees. I

identified three themes that influenced specialized employee retention in the oil and gas industry. My study results revealed the factors managers should use for developing successful specialized employee retention strategies, including leadership engagement that encourages employees to feel valued and appreciated, effective communication with the employee, and providing opportunities for the employee's professional development; providing employee flexibility though cultivating work—life balance; and monitoring and assessing retention strategies through research tools and data analysis. Since it takes years for specialized employees to become experts, it is very important to keep the highly talented employees who possess unique skills and knowledge (Taib et al., 2019).

The participants in this study, also, posited that developing successful specialized employee retention strategies to include leadership engagement through employees feeling valued and appreciated, effective communication with the employee, and providing opportunities for the employee's professional development improved the retention of specialized employees. Leadership engagement can be used to predict employee retention (Popli & Rizvi, 2016). Managers should engage with specialized employees through effective communications and by providing development opportunities in recognition of their unique talents to improve retention.

The participants in this study posited that providing employee flexibility though cultivating work—life balance improved the retention of specialized employees.

Flexibility and listening to the employees are factors that reduce the turnover rate of a company (Sypniewska, 2014) resulting in improved specialized employee retention.

Managers should allow specialized employees flexibility resulting in work–life balance to improve retention.

Finally, the participants in this study posited that monitoring and assessing retention strategies through research tools and data analysis improved the retention of specialized employees. Leaders can analyze and assess employee exit interviews and employee survey data as successful employee retention strategies (Boštjančič & Slana, 2018). Managers should review and analyze employee survey and exit interview data to understand why employees quit a company to improve employee retention.

According to the research findings of my study, the retention of specialized employees can be achieved if my study observations and conclusions are mobilized and employed. Based on this study, managers can use leadership engagement through employees feeling valued and appreciated, effective communication with the employee, and employee professional development; providing employee flexibility though cultivating work—life balance; and monitoring and assessing retention strategies through research tools and data analysis as successful retention strategies to retain specialized employees and implement them as professional practice. My study findings can inform oil and gas industry policies, frameworks, and strategies that positively contribute to successful employee retention for specialized employees.

Implications for Social Change

The findings of this study hold many implications for social change, including potential change for individuals, communities, and institutions. Existing literature shows that the identification of effective retention strategies for company managers could result

in positive social change by increasing local job opportunities, reducing employee turnover, reducing company turnover costs, and reducing the associated costs of replacement hiring (Newell & Raimi, 2018). These outcomes may be possible if the findings of this study are shared among leaders in oil and gas or similar industries. If specialized employees remain at the organization instead of leaving the industry, leaders may improve promotion efforts from within the oil and gas industry, reduce a metropolitan city in the southern United States area's unemployment rates, and improve local job economies. Wasilowski (2018) reasoned that high turnover rates in companies result in reduced economic growth because increases in the unemployment rate in communities leads to decreased tax collections. Implementing successful, evidence-based employee retention strategies can counter the negative effect of reduced economic growth due to high turnover rates.

Retention of specialized employees within oil and gas companies is vital for successful growth and financial stability. The implications for social change that may emerge from the findings of this study include leadership awareness to improve specialized employee retention resulting in employees being content and staying with the company, thus reducing the unemployment rate within a community. Batt and Colvin (2011) deduced that employee retention can reduce the unemployment rate within a community. Another implication for social change in the community includes improved financial stability in the community by improving specialized employee retention in companies. Financial stability could result in increased employment and increased tax income to the community (Van Looy & Shafagatova, 2016). The successful employee

retention strategies gleaned from this study can be shared with leadership in the oil and gas industries to improve employee retention strategies resulting in employees feeling valued and appreciated so that they may opt to stay at the company, thus contributing to positive change in local communities.

Recommendations for Action

Based on the findings from this study, I recommend that managers of oil and gas companies learn from these evidence-based practices and consider implementing such retention strategies to improve the retention rates of specialized employees, or to review and revise existing retention strategies for specialized employees. My study findings can inform an organization's current retention strategies. Using evidence-based findings to inform existing practices is a reliable and effective method to improve business practices (Schuler, 2015). I recommend that current and future managers review these findings to understand the importance of how leadership engagement strategies, flexibility through work-life balance, and assessing and analyzing employee data improves specialized employee retention. I recommend that oil and gas managers develop and begin training to implement successful employee retention strategies by attending conferences on employee retention, updating and implementing employee retention policies, and executing managerial training on employee retention. Managers implementing retention strategies for experienced employees reduce company expenses (Akhtar, Humphreys, & Furnham, 2015). I intend to share the findings of this study with the participating managers by publishing the study and by writing a book on the effectiveness and implementation of retention strategies.

Recommendations for Further Research

The information in this study contributes to the literature available on strategies for improving specialized employee retention. One limitation of my study was the small sample size. A recommendation for further research would be to include employees as participants to increase the sample size. A larger sample size to include employees spread out over a broader geographical location would be useful for discovering successful retention strategies. The geographical areas could include other cities in the southern United States or other states, which could uncover evidence that the emerging themes in this study may be universal. While the qualitative approach used in this study constituted an appropriate methodology for this research, combining qualitative with quantitative methods could address the sample size limitation. In addition to working with a larger participant size, the quantitative method could include collecting more specific data, such as demographics and chart-rating scales. Another limitation was that research findings were limited to oil and gas companies. A recommendation for further research would be to include participants working in other industries, which could potentially provide different data. Finally, several nonwork factors that influence employee retention, such as personal finances or family relationships, were beyond the scope of this current research study. A recommendation for further research would be to include and examine nonwork factors that influence employee retention, which could result in additional evidence-based retention strategies for specialized employees.

Reflections

Completing the doctoral study process was humbling, challenging, and fulfilling in many ways. The challenge was working full time, studying full time, being a mother full time, and being a wife full time. The fulfillment I found was in keeping everything together through the power of prayer. The humility I experienced was from receiving feedback, developing the perseverance to correct and understand each phase of learning, and continuing to conquer the next mountains as they came into view.

The doctoral study process enabled me to understand how to use open-ended questions in interviews and how to engage in active listening without responding during interviews. I was able to reach data saturation by encouraging the participants to share information and perspectives with few restrictions, and I was able to correlate the collected data to existing literature. The literature review helped me expand my knowledge on employee retention strategies and establish a deeper understanding on this topic, and how my study is relevant and useful to this field. Further, the literature review helped me curtail researcher bias by minimizing preconceived ideas and perceptions on retention strategies for specialized employees. I interviewed study participants that I had not previously met, and I used member checking to minimize researcher bias. The personal interview responses from the hiring and engineering managers in this study helped to shift my bias because this was objective data collected face-to-face. Finally, the findings from my study revealed successful retention strategies that could be used in the oil and gas industry, as well as unsuccessful practices that may lead to employee turnover. I feel satisfied with my study process and the fact that the findings of this

research can be mobilized for professional practice, social change, and actions for improving business practices.

Conclusion

In conclusion, this research study presents several successful retention strategies in the findings, which may be apt and essential in helping companies to retain specialized employees and reduce turnover rates. Managers face the challenge of retaining specialized employees (Nafeesa Begum & Brindha, 2019). Employers should recognize their human capital is a significant resource and contributes to the competitive advantage of their organizations (Alias et al., 2018). The higher the employee retention level, the lower the replacement costs, which aids in sustaining the operations and production of a company (Alias et al., 2018).

Retention strategies are a powerful recruitment tool (Nafeesa Begum & Brindha, 2019). The strategies identified in my study were successful and made a significant difference to the oil companies presented in terms of the retention of specialized employees in a metropolitan city in the southern United States area. Strategies that improved specialized employee retention include leadership engagement through making the employee feel valued and appreciated, effective communication with the employee, and providing opportunities for the employee's professional development; flexibility through work—life balance; and monitoring and assessing retention strategies through research tools and data analysis. Managers may be successful in the retention of specialized employees in oil and gas companies if these strategies are implemented. The employee retention strategies resulting from this study could result in positive social

implications that improve the company's financial stability by reducing the unemployment rate within a community. These findings can inform industry policies, existing retention strategies, and leadership practices in efforts to improve employee retention and reduce employee turnover in the oil and gas industry.

References

- Abbasi, S. M., & Hollman, K. W. (2000). Turnover: The real bottom line. *Public Personnel Management*, 29, 333-342. doi:10.1177/2F009102600002900303
- Afsar, B., Shahjehan, A., & Shah, S. I. (2018). Frontline employees' high-performance work practices, trust in supervisor, job-embeddedness and turnover intentions in hospitality industry. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality*Management, 30, 1436-1452. doi:10.1108/IJCHM-11-2016-0633
- Agarwal, R., Gambardella, A., & Olson, D. M. (2016). Employee mobility and entrepreneurship a virtual special issue. *Strategic Management Journal*, *37*, E11-E21. doi:10.1002/smj.2361
- Ajmal, M. M., Shamim, M., Saleh, M., & Malik, A. (2016). Motivation and compensation as predictors of employees' retention: Evidence from public sector oil and gas selling organizations. *Journal of Behavioural Sciences*, *26*, 174-188.

 Retrieved from http://pu.edu.pk/home/journal/24
- Alias, N. E., Nokman, F. N., Ismail, S., Koe, W. L., & Othman, R. (2018). The effect of payment, recognition, empowerment and work-life balance on job satisfaction in the Malaysia's oil and gas industry. *International Journal of Academic Research in Business and Social Sciences*, 8(9), 639-656. doi:10.6007/IJARBSS/v8-i9/4645
- Allen, D. G., Peltokorpi, V., & Rubenstein, A. L. (2016). When "embedded" means "stuck": Moderating effects of job embeddedness in adverse work environments.

 **Journal of Applied Psychology, 101, 1670-1686. doi:10.1037/apl0000134

- Allen, D. G., & Shanock, L. R. (2013). Perceived organizational support and embeddedness as key mechanisms connecting socialization tactics to commitment and turnover among new employees. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 34(3), 350-369. doi:10.5465/amp.24.2.48
- Allen, R. E. S., & Wiles, J. L. (2015). A rose by any other name: Participants choosing research pseudonyms. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *13*, 149-165. doi:10.1080/14780887.2015.1133746
- Al Mamun, C. A., & Hasan, M. N. (2017). Factors affecting employee turnover and sound retention strategies in the business organization: A conceptual view.

 *Problems and Perspectives in Management, 15(1), 63-71.

 doi:10.21511/ppm.15(1).2017.06
- Al-Musali, M. A., & Ku Ismail, K. N. I. (2016). Cross-country comparison of intellectual capital performance and its impact on financial performance of commercial banks in GCC countries. *International Journal of Islamic and Middle Eastern Finance and Management*, 9, 512-531. doi:10.1108/IMEFM-03-2015-0029
- Ampofo, E. T., Coetzer, A., & Poisat, P. (2017). Relationships between job embeddedness and employees' life satisfaction. *Employee Relations*, *39*, 951-966. doi:10.1108/er-10-2016-0199
- Andresen, M. (2015). What determines expatriates' performance while abroad? The role of job embeddedness. *Journal of Global Mobility: The Home of Expatriate*Management Research, 3, 62-82. doi:10.1108/jgm-06-2014-0015

- Annink, A. (2017). Using the research journal during qualitative data collection in a cross-cultural context. *Entrepreneurship Research Journal*, 7(1), 1-17. doi:10.1515/erj-2015-0063
- Armstrong-Stassen, M., Cameron, S., Rajacich, D., & Freeman, M. (2014). Do nurse managers understand how to retain seasoned nurses? Perceptions of nurse managers and direct-care nurses of valued human resource practices. *Nursing Economics*, 32(4), 211.
- Artal, R., & Rubenfeld, S. (2017). Ethical issues in research. *Best Practice & Research Clinical Obstetrics & Gynaecology*, 43, 107-114.

 doi:10.1016/j.bpobgyn.2016.12.006
- Babb, S., Birk, L., & Carfagna, L. (2017). Standard bearers: Qualitative sociologists' experiences with IRB regulation. *The American Sociologist*, 48, 86-102. doi:10.1007/s12108-016-9331-z
- Barney, J. B. (1995). Looking inside for competitive advantage. *Academy of Management Perspectives*, *9*, 49-61. doi:10.5465/ame.1995.9512032192
- Batt, R., & Colvin, A. J. (2011). An employment systems approach to turnover: Human resources practices, quits, dismissals, and performance. *Academy of Management Journal*, *54*(4), 695-717. doi:10.5465/amj.2011.64869448
- Bauer, S., & Lim, D. (2019). Effect of communication practices on volunteer organization identification and retention. *Sustainability*, *11*(9), 2467-2484. doi:10.3390/su11092467

- Bell, E., Bracken-Roche, D., Macdonald, M. E., & Racine, E. (2017). The concept of "vulnerability" in research ethics: An in-depth analysis of policies and guidelines.

 *Health Research Policy & Systems, 15(1), 1-18. doi:10.1186/s12961-016-0164-6
- Benton, A. D. (2016). Understanding the diverging paths of stayers and leavers: An examination of factors predicting worker retention. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 65, 70-77. doi:10.1016/j.childyouth.2016.04.006
- Berger, R. (2015). Now I see it, now I don't: Researcher's position and reflexivity in qualitative research. *Qualitative Research*, 15, 219-234. doi:10.1177/1468794112468475
- Bermiss, Y. S., & Greenbaum, B. E. (2016). Loyal to whom? The effect of relational embeddedness and managers' mobility on market tie dissolution. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 61, 254-290. doi:10.1177/0001839215619198
- Bhowal, M., & Saini, D. (2019). Employee engagement strategies with special focus on Indian firms. *Management Techniques for Employee Engagement in Contemporary Organizations*, 165-179. doi:10.4018/978-1-5225-7799-7.ch010
- Bhupathi, P. A., & Ravi, G. R. (2017). Comprehensive format of informed consent in research and practice: A tool to uphold the ethical and moral standards. *International Journal of Clinical Pediatric Dentistry*, 10, 73-81. doi:10.5005/2Fjp-journals-10005-1411

- Bibi, P., Pangil, F., Johari, J., & Ahmad, A. (2017). The impact of compensation and promotional opportunities on employee retention in academic institutions: The moderating role of work environment. *International Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 11, 378-391. Retrieved from http://econ-society.org/ijep_home.php
- Birt, L., Scott, S., Cavers, D., Campbell, C., & Walter, F. (2016). Member checking. *Qualitative Health Research*, 26, 1802-1811. doi:10.1177/1049732316654870
- Blaikie, N. (2018). Confounding issues related to determining sample size in qualitative research. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 21, 635-641. doi:10.1080/13645579.2018.1454644
- Boddy, C. R. (2016). Sample size for qualitative research. *Qualitative Market Research:*An International Journal, 19, 426-432. doi:10.1108/QMR-06-2016-0053
- Bokhove, C., & Downey, C. (2018). Automated generation of "good enough" transcripts as a first step to transcription of audio-recorded data. *Methodological Innovations*, 11(2), 1-14. doi:10.1177/2F2059799118790743
- Boon, C., & Biron, M. (2016). Temporal issues in person–organization fit, person–job fit and turnover: The role of leader–member exchange. *Human Relations*, 69, 2177-2200. doi:10.1177/0018726716636945
- Bose, A. (2016). Retaining the best talent: Challenge for private education sector in Kolkata. *Journal of Advances in Business Management*, 2, 102-105. doi:10.14260/jadbm/2016/25

- Boštjančič, E., & Slana, Z. (2018). The role of talent management comparing medium-sized and large companies Major challenges in attracting and retaining talented employees. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *9*, 1750-1760.

 doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2018.01750
- Boswell, W. R., Gardner, R. G., & Wang, J. (2017). Is retention necessarily a win?

 Outcomes of searching and staying. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 98, 163-172.

 doi:10.1016/j.jvb.2016.11.006
- Brown, A. D. (2015). Identities and identity work in organizations. *International Journal of Management Reviews*, 17, 20-40. doi:10.1111/ijmr.12035
- Castillo-Montoya, M. (2016). Preparing for interview research: The interview protocol refinement framework. *The Qualitative Report*, 21, 811-831. Retrieved from https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/
- Castro-Palaganas, E., Spitzer, D. L., Kabamalan, M. M. M., Sanchez, M. C., Caricativo, R., Runnels, V., . . . Bourgeault, I. L. (2017). An examination of the causes, consequences, and policy responses to the migration of highly trained health personnel from the Philippines: The high cost of living/leaving—A mixed method study. *Human Resources for Health*, *15*(1), 1-14. doi:10.1186/s12960-017-0198-z
- Charlier, S. D., Guay, R. P., & Zimmerman, R. D. (2016). Plugged in or disconnected? A model of the effects of technological factors on employee job embeddedness.

 Human Resource Management, 55, 109-126. doi:10.1002/hrm.21716

- Chhabra, B. (2015). Person–job fit: Mediating role of job satisfaction & organizational commitment. *The Indian Journal of Industrial Relations*, 638-651. Retrieved from www.jstor.org/journal/indijindurela
- Choi, J. S., & Kim, K. M. (2015). Job embeddedness factors as a predictor of turnover intention among infection control nurses in Korea. *American Journal of Infection Control*, 43, 1213-1217. doi:10.1016/j.ajic.2015.06.017
- Cincotta, D. (2015). An ethnography: An inquiry into agency alignment meetings. *Business Studies Journal*, 7, 41-46. doi:10.81.11.199_8000_722880136
- Clark, A., Sommerville, D., & Heron, R. (2017). Relationship between psychological stress-job satisfaction and weight change in employees at a global oil and gas company. *Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 74, A107-A108. doi:10.1136/oemed-2017-104636.283
- Cleary, M., Sayers, J., & Watson, R. (2016). Essentials of building a career in nursing research. *Nurse Researcher*, 23, 8–12. doi:10.7748/nr.2016.e1412
- Cloutier, O., Felusiak, L., Hill, C., & Pemberton-Jones, E. J. (2015). The importance of developing strategies for employee retention. *Journal of Leadership*,

 **Accountability and Ethics, 12, 119-129. Retrieved from http://na-businesspress.com/jlaeopen.html
- Coetzee, M., & Stoltz, E. (2015). Employees' satisfaction with retention factors:

 Exploring the role of career adaptability. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 89, 83-91. doi:10.1016/j.jvb.2015.04.012

- Coetzer, A., Inma, C., Poisat, P., Redmond, J., & Standing, C. (2018). Job embeddedness and employee enactment of innovation-related work behaviours. *International Journal of Manpower*, *39*, 222-239. doi:10.1108/IJM-04-2016-0095
- Collini, S. A., Guidroz, A. M., & Perez, L. M. (2015). Turnover in health care: The mediating effects of employee engagement. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 23, 169-178. doi:10.1111/jonm.12109
- Connelly, L. M. (2016). Trustworthiness in qualitative research. *Medsurg Nursing*, 25, 435-436. doi:10.1016/j.npls.2016.01.001
- Cook, D., Lee, E. K., & Majumder, M. (2016). Data visualization and statistical graphics in big data analysis. *Annual Review of Statistics and Its Application*, *3*, 133-159. doi:10.1146/annurev-statistics-041715-033420
- Craig, M. (2015). Cost effectiveness of retaining top internal talent in contrast to recruiting top talent. *Competition Forum*, *13*, 203-209. Retrieved from https://questia.com/library/p150669/competition-forum
- Cucina, J. M., Byle, K. A., Martin, N. R., Peyton, S. T., & Gast, I. F. (2018).
 Generational differences in workplace attitudes and job satisfaction: Lack of sizable differences across cohorts. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 33, 246-264. doi:10.1108/JMP-03-2017-0115
- Curnin, S., Owen, C., Paton, D., Trist, C., & Parsons, D. (2015). Role clarity, swift trust and multi-agency coordination. *Journal of Contingencies and Crisis*Management, 23, 29-35. doi:10.1111/1468-5973.12072

- Dai, W., & Liu, Y. (2015). Local vs. non-local institutional embeddedness, corporate entrepreneurship, and firm performance in a transitional economy. *Asian Journal of Technology Innovation*, 23, 255-270. doi:10.1080/19761597.2015.1074516
- Darrat, M. A., Amyx, D. A., & Bennett, R. J. (2017). Examining the impact of job embeddedness on salesperson deviance: The moderating role of job satisfaction. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 63, 15-166.

 doi:10.1016/j.indmarman.2016.10.012
- D'Costa, K. (2017, October 4). "Is quitting contagious?" *Scientific American*.

 Retrieved from https://blogs.scientificamerican.com/anthropology-in-practice/is-quitting-contagious/
- Deery, M., & Jago, L. (2015). Revisiting talent management, work-life balance and retention strategies. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality*Management, 27, 453-472. doi:10.1108/09596110810897619
- De Massis, A., & Kotlar, J. (2014). The case study method in family business research:

 Guidelines for qualitative scholarship. *Journal of Family Business Strategy*, 5, 15-29. doi:10.1016/j.jfbs.2014.01.007
- Demirtas, O., & Akdogan, A. A. (2015). The effect of ethical leadership behavior on ethical climate, turnover intention, and affective commitment. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *130*, 59-67. doi:10.1007/s10551-014-2196-6
- Denzin, N. K. (2017). Sociological methods: A sourcebook. New York, NY: Routledge.

- Dikko, M. (2016). Establishing construct validity and reliability: Pilot testing of a qualitative interview for research in Takaful (Islamic insurance). *The Qualitative Report*, 21, 521-528. Retrieved from https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/
- Doerr, M., Truong, A. M., Bot, B. M., Wilbanks, J., Suver, C., & Mangravite, L. M. (2017). Formative evaluation of participant experience with mobile eConsent in the app-mediated Parkinson mPower study: A mixed methods study. *JMIR mHealth and uHealth*, 5(2), 1-11. doi:10.2196/2Fmhealth.6521
- Dowling, R., Lloyd, K., & Suchet-Pearson, S. (2016). Qualitative methods 1. *Progress in Human Geography*, 40, 679-686. doi:10.1177/0309132515596880
- Drake, B. F., Brown, K. M., Gehlert, S., Wolf, L. E., Seo, J., Perkins, H., . . . Kaphingst, K. A. (2017). Development of plain language supplemental materials for the biobank informed consent process. *Journal of Cancer Education*, *32*, 836-844. doi:10.1007/s13187-016-1029-y
- Duffield, C. M., Roche, M. A., Homer, C., Buchan, J., & Dimitrelis, S. (2014). A comparative review of nurse turnover rates and costs across countries. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 70, 2703-2712. doi:10.1111/jan.12483/epdf
- Durrani, A. S., & Rajagopal, L. (2016). Restaurant human resource managers' attitudes towards workplace diversity, perceptions and definition of ethical hiring. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, *53*, 145-151. doi:10.1016/j.ijhm.2015.10.009

- Eddleston, K. A., & Mulki, J. (2017). Toward understanding remote workers' management of work–family boundaries: The complexity of workplace embeddedness. *Group & Organization Management*, 42, 346-387. doi:10.1177/1059601115619548
- Elias, J., Hendlin, Y. H., & Ling, P. M. (2018). Public versus internal conceptions of addiction: An analysis of internal Philip Morris documents. *PLoS Medicine*, *15*, e1002562-e1002577. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1002562
- Ertas, N. (2015). Turnover intentions and work motivations of millennial employees in federal service. *Public Personnel Management*, *44*, 401-423. doi:10.1177/0091026015588193
- Etikan, I. (2016). Comparison of convenience sampling and purposive sampling.

 *American Journal of Theoretical and Applied Statistics, 5(1), 1-4.

 doi:10.11648/j.ajtas.20160501.11
- Fahad, S. A., & Yafooz, W. M. S. (2017). Design and develop semantic textual document clustering model. *Journal of Computer Science*, *5*, 26-39. doi:10.15640/jcsit.v5n2a4
- Fatima, M., Shafique, M., Qadeer, F., & Ahmad, R. (2015). HR practices and employee performance relationship in higher education: Mediating role of job embeddedness, perceived organizational support and trust. *Pakistan Journal of Statistics and Operation Research*, 11, 421-439.

 doi:10.18187/pjsor.v11i3.882

- Felps, W., Mitchell, T. R., Hekman, D. R., Lee, T. W., Holtom, B. C., & Harman, W. S. (2009). Turnover contagion: How coworkers' job embeddedness and job search behaviors influence quitting. *Academy of Management Journal*, *52*, 545-561. doi:10.5465/AMJ.2009.41331075
- Finlay, J. M., & Bowman, J. A. (2017). Geographies on the move: A practical and theoretical approach to the mobile interview. *The Professional Geographer*, 69, 263-274. doi:10.1080/00330124.2016.1229623
- Fischer, J., & Van de Bovenkamp, H. M. (2019). The challenge of democratic patient representation: Understanding the representation work of patient organizations through methodological triangulation. *Health Policy*, *123*, 109-114. doi:10.1016/j.healthpol.2018.11.011
- Fitt, H. (2015). Researching mobile practices: Participant reflection and audio-recording in repeat question diaries. *Qualitative Research*, *18*, 654-670. doi:10.1177/1468794117743462
- Fulgence, K. (2015). Factors influencing graduates recruitment decisions: The case of Tanzania corporate recruiters. *Academy of Educational Leadership*Journal, 19(1), 1-23. Retrieved from https://abacademies.org/journals/academy-of-educational-leadership-journal-home.html
- Fusch, P. I., Fusch, G. E., & Ness, L. R. (2017). How to conduct a mini-ethnographic case study: A guide for novice researchers. *The Qualitative Report*, 22, 923-941.

 Retrieved from https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/

- Fusch, P. I., & Ness, L. R. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, *20*, 1408-1416. Retrieved from https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/
- Gentles, S. J., & Vilches, S. L. (2017). Calling for a shared understanding of sampling terminology in qualitative research: Proposed clarifications derived from critical analysis of a methods overview by McCrae and Purssell. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 16(1), 1-7. doi:10.1177/1609406917725678
- Ghosh, D., & Gurunathan, L. (2015a). Do commitment based human resource practices influence job embeddedness and intention to quit? *IIMB Management Review*, 27, 240-251. doi:10.1016/j.iimb.2015.09.003
- Ghosh, D., & Gurunathan, L. (2015b). Job embeddedness: A ten-year literature review and proposed guidelines. *Global Business Review*, *16*, 856-866. doi:10.1177/0972150915591652
- Giauque, D., Anderfuhren-Biget, S., & Varone, F. (2019). Stress and turnover intents in international organizations: Social support and work-life balance as resources. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 30(5), 879-901. doi:10.1080/09585192.2016.1254105
- Gleibs, I. H. (2017). Are all "research fields" equal? Rethinking practice for the use of data from crowdsourcing market places. *Behavior Research Methods*, 49, 1333-1342. doi:10.3758/s13428-016-0789-y

- Grady, C., Cummings, S. R., Rowbotham, M. C., McConnell, M. V., Ashley, E. A., & Kang, G. (2017). The changing face of informed consent. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *376*, 856-867. Retrieved from https://nejm.org/
- Greene, J., Mero, N., & Werner, S. (2018). The negative effects of job embeddedness on performance. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, *33*, 58-73. doi:10.1108/JMP-02-2017-0074
- Grinnell, F., Sadler, J. Z., McNamara, V., Senetar, K., & Reisch, J. (2017). Confidence of IRB/REC members in their assessments of human research risk: A study of IRB/REC decision making in action. *Journal of Empirical Research on Human Research Ethics*, 12, 140-149. doi:10.1177/2F1556264617710386
- Gueguen, N., Eyssartier, C., & Meineri, S. (2016). A pedestrian's smile and drivers' behavior: When a smile increases careful driving. *Journal of Safety Research*, 56, 83-88. doi:10.1016/j.jsr.2015.12.005
- Gutmann, J. (2014). Qualitative research practice: A guide for social science students and researchers. *International Journal of Market Research*, *56*, 407-409. doi:10.2501/IJMR-2014
- Hadi, M. A., & Closs, S. J. (2016). Ensuring rigour and trustworthiness of qualitative research in clinical pharmacy. *International Journal of Clinical Pharmacy*, 38, 641-646. doi.org/10.1007/s11096-015-0237-6
- Hanaysha, J. (2016). Examining the effects of employee empowerment, teamwork, and employee training on organizational commitment. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 229, 298-306. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2016.07.140

- Harhara, A. S., Singh, S. K., & Hussain, M. (2015). Correlates of employee turnover intentions in oil and gas industry in the UAE. *International Journal of Organizational Analysis*, 23, 493-504. doi:10.1108/IJOA-11-2014-0821
- Hassan, M., Hassan, S., Din Khan, K., & Naseem, M. (2011). Employee retention as a challenge in leather industry. *Global Journal of Human-Social Science Research*, 11, 9-13. Retrieved from https://socialscienceresearch.org/index.php/GJHSS/index
- Hays, D. G., Wood, C., Dahl, H., & Kirk-Jenkins, A. (2016). Methodological rigor in journal of counseling & development qualitative research articles: A 15-year review. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 94, 172-183. doi:10.1002/jcad.12074
- Hayward, D., Bungay, V., Wolff, A. C., & MacDonald, V. (2016). A qualitative study of experienced nurses' voluntary turnover: Learning from their perspectives. *Journal* of Clinical Nursing, 25, 1336-1345. doi:10.1111/jocn.13210
- Hershberger, P. E., & Kavanaugh, K. (2017). Comparing appropriateness and equivalence of email interviews to phone interviews in qualitative research on reproductive decisions. *Applied Nursing Research*, *37*, 50-54. doi:10.1016/j.apnr.2017.07.005
- Hershkowitz, I., Lamb, M. E., Katz, C., & Malloy, L. C. (2015). Does enhanced rapport-building alter the dynamics of investigative interviews with suspected victims of intra-familial abuse? *Journal of Police and Criminal Psychology*, 1, 6-14. doi:10.1007/s11896-013-9136-8

- Heydon, G., & Powell, A. (2018). Written-response interview protocols: An innovative approach to confidential reporting and victim interviewing in sexual assault investigations. *Policing and Society*, 28, 631-646.

 doi:10.1080/10439463.2016.1187146
- Hobfoll, S. E. (1989). Conservation of resources: A new attempt at conceptualizing stress. *American Psychologist*, *44*, 513-524. doi:10.1037/0003-066X.44.3.513
- Hofmann, V., & Stokburger-Sauer, N. E. (2017). The impact of emotional labor on employees' work-life balance perception and commitment: A study in the hospitality industry. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 65, 47-58. doi:10.1016/j.ijhm.2017.06.003
- Holtom, B. C., Mitchell, T. R., & Lee, T. W. (2006). Increasing human and social capital by applying job embeddedness theory. *Organizational Dynamics*, *35*, 316-331. doi:10.1016/j.orgdyn.2006.08.007
- Hom, P. W., Lee, T. W., Shaw, J. D., & Hausknecht, J. P. (2017). One hundred years of employee turnover theory and research. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 102, 530-545. doi:10.1037/apl0000103
- Hoogland, I., Schildkamp, K., Van der Kleij, F., Heitink, M., Kippers, W., Veldkamp, B.,
 ... Dijkstra, A. M. (2016). Prerequisites for data-based decision making in the classroom: Research evidence and practical illustrations. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 60, 377-386. doi:10.1016/j.tate.2016.07.012

- Hussain, T., & Deery, S. (2018). Why do self-initiated expatriates quit their jobs: The role of job embeddedness and shocks in explaining turnover intentions.International Business Review, 27, 281-288. doi:10.1016/j.ibusrev.2017.08.002
- Iivari, N. (2018). Using member checking in interpretive research practice: A hermeneutic analysis of informants' interpretation of their organizational realities. *Information Technology & People*, 31, 111-133. doi:10.1108/ITP-07-2016-0168
- Jang, S. J., Zippay, A., & Park, R. (2016). Family leave for employed women: Interaction effects of gender discrimination and household responsibilities in South Korea. *International Social Work*, 59, 99-114. doi:10.1177/0020872814531306
- Jauhar, J., Ting, C. S., Rahim, A., & Fareen, N. (2017). The impact of reward and transformational leadership on the intention to quit of Generation Y employees in oil and gas industry: Moderating role of job satisfaction. *Global Business & Management Research*, *9*, 426-441. Retrieved from https://questia.com/library/p438727/global-business-and-management-research-an-international
- Jentoft, N., & Olsen, T. S. (2017). Against the flow in data collection: How data triangulation combined with a 'slow' interview technique enriches data.

 *Qualitative Social Work, 2(1), 1-15. doi:10.1177/1473325017712581
- Jiang, K., Liu, D., McKay, P. F., Lee, T. W., & Mitchell, T. R. (2012). When and how is job embeddedness predictive of turnover? A meta-analytic investigation. *Journal* of Applied Psychology, 97, 1077-1096. doi:10.1037/a0028610

- Johennesse, L. A. C., & Chou, T. K. (2017). Employee perceptions of talent management effectiveness on retention. *Global Business & Management Research*, *9*, 46-58.

 Retrieved from https://questia.com/library/p438727/global-business-and-management-research-an-international
- Johnston, M. P. (2017). Secondary data analysis: A method of which the time has come. *Qualitative and Quantitative Methods in Libraries*, *3*, 619-626. Retrieved from http://qqml.net/journal_issues.html
- Joslin, R., & Müller, R. (2016). Identifying interesting project phenomena using philosophical and methodological triangulation. *International Journal of Project Management*, 34, 1043-1056. doi:10.1016/j.ijproman.2016.05.005
- Joy, J. (2018). Managing the people side of divestiture: Retention and motivation. In *Divestitures and Spin-Offs*, 133-143. Springer, Boston, MA. doi:10.1007/978-1-4939-7662-1_13
- Kanfer, R., Frese, M., & Johnson, R. E. (2017). Motivation related to work: A century of progress. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 102, 338-355. doi:10.1037/apl0000133
- Kiazad, K., Holtom, B. C., Hom, P. W., & Newman, A. (2015). Job embeddedness: A multifoci theoretical extension. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 100, 641-659. doi:10.1037/a0038919
- Kim, S. Y., & Fernandez, S. (2017). Employee empowerment and turnover intention in the US federal bureaucracy. *The American Review of Public Administration*, 47(1), 4-22. doi:10.1177/0275074015583712

- Kim, Y., & Kang, Y. (2015). Effects of self-efficacy, career plateau, job embeddedness, and organizational commitment on the turnover intention of nurses. *Journal of Korean Academy of Nursing Administration*, 21, 530-541.
 doi:10.1111/jkana.2015.21.5.530
- Korstjens, I., & Moser, A. (2018). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research.

 Part 4: Trustworthiness and publishing. *European Journal of General*Practice, 24, 120-124. doi:10.1080/13814788.2017.1375092
- Kratzke, C. (2018). Smart choices for cancer education professional development:

 Your voice and visibility for leadership. *Journal of Cancer Education*, *33*(5),

 1148-1150. doi:10.1007/s13187-017-1174-y
- Krøtel, S. M., & Villadsen, A. R. (2016). Employee turnover in hybrid organizations:
 The role of public sector socialization and organizational privateness. *Public Administration*, 94, 167-184. doi:10.1111/padm.12211
- Kulkarni, M., Lengnick-Hall, M. L., & Martinez, P. G. (2015). Overqualification, mismatched qualification, and hiring decision: Perceptions of employers.
 Personnel Review, 44, 529-549. doi:10.1108/PR-11-2013-0204
- Kumar, T. S., & Kavitha, M. (2016). Employee retention: A key tool for organizational profitability. Shanlax International Journal of Management, 4, 65-68. Retrieved from http://shanlaxjournals.in/
- Lahman, M. K., Rodriguez, K. L., Moses, L., Griffin, K. M., Mendoza, B. M., & Yacoub, W. (2015). A rose by any other name is still a rose? Problematizing pseudonyms in research. *Qualitative Inquiry*, *21*, 445-453. doi:10.1177/1077800415572391

- Largent, E. A., & Lynch, H. F. (2017). Paying research participants: Regulatory uncertainty, conceptual confusion, and a path forward. *Yale Journal of Health Policy, Law, and Ethics, 17*, 61-142. Retrieved from https://digitalcommons.law.yale.edu/yjhple/
- Lee, T., Burch, T. C., & Mitchell, T. R. (2014). The story of why we stay: A review of job embeddedness. *Annual Review of Organizational Psychology and Organizational Behavior*, 1, 199-216. doi:10.1146/annurev-orgpsych-031413-091244
- Lee, T. W., & Mitchell, T. R. (1994). An alternative approach: The unfolding model of voluntary employee turnover. *Academy of Management Review*, *19*, 51-89. doi:10.5465/amr.1994.9410122008
- Lee, T. W., Mitchell, T. R., Holtom, B. C., McDaniel, L., & Hill, J. W. (1999).

 Theoretical development and extension of the unfolding model of voluntary turnover. *Academy of Management Journal*, 42, 450-462. doi:10.5465/257015
- Leung, L. (2015). Validity, reliability, and generalizability in qualitative research.

 **Journal of Family Medicine and Primary Care, 4, 324-327. doi:10.4103/2249-4863.161306
- Lewin, K. (1951). Field theory in social science. Oxford, England: Harpers.
- Li, J. J., Lee, T. W., Mitchell, T. R., Hom, P. W., & Griffeth, R. W. (2016). The effects of proximal withdrawal states on job attitudes, job searching, intent to leave, and employee turnover. *The Journal of Applied Psychology*, *101*, 1436-1456. doi:10.1037/apl0000147

- Lu, C. Q., Sun, J. W., & Du, D. Y. (2016). The relationships between employability, emotional exhaustion, and turnover intention: The moderation of perceived career opportunity. *Journal of Career Development*, 43, 37-51. doi:10.1177/0894845315576372
- Lu, L., Lu, A. C. C., Gursoy, D., & Neale, N. R. (2016). Work engagement, job satisfaction, and turnover intentions: A comparison between supervisors and line-level employees. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality*Management, 28, 737-761. doi:10.1108/IJCHM-07-2014-0360
- Lyu, Y., & Zhu, H. (2017). The predictive effects of workplace ostracism on employee attitudes: A job embeddedness perspective. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 1-13. doi:10.1007/s10551-017-3741-x
- Malterud, K., Siersma, V. D., & Guassora, A. D. (2016). Sample size in qualitative interview studies: Guided by information power. *Qualitative Health**Research*, 26, 1753-1760. doi:10.1177/1049732315617444
- Mansour, S., & Tremblay, D. G. (2016). Workload, generic and work–family specific social supports and job stress: Mediating role of work–family and family–work conflict. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality*Management, 28, 1778-1804. doi:10.1108/ IJCHM-11-2014-0607
- Manz, C. C. (2015). Taking the self-leadership high road: Smooth surface or potholes ahead? *Academy of Management*, 29, 132-151. doi:10.5465/amp.2013.0060

- Marasi, S., Cox, S. S., & Bennett, R. J. (2016). Job embeddedness: Is it always a good thing? *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 31, 141-153. doi:10.1108/jmp-05-2013-0150
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. (2016). *Designing qualitative research*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Mayer, I. (2015). Qualitative research with a focus on qualitative data analysis. *International Journal of Sales, Retailing & Marketing, 4*, 53-67. Retrieved from http://ijsrm.com/
- Mazzei, M. J., Flynn, C. B., & Haynie, J. J. (2016). Moving beyond initial success: Promoting innovation in small businesses through high-performance work practices. *Business Horizons*, *59*, 51-60. doi:10.1016/j.bushor.2015.08.004
- McCurdy, P., & Uldam, J. (2014). Connecting participant observation positions: Toward a reflexive framework for studying social movements. *Field Methods*, 26, 40-55. doi:10.1177/1525822X13500448
- McCusker, K., & Gunaydin, S. (2015). Research using qualitative, quantitative or mixed methods and choice based on the research. *Perfusion*, *30*, 537-542. doi:10.1177/0267659114559116
- McIntosh, M. J., & Morse, J. M. (2015). Situating and constructing diversity in semi-structured interviews. *Global Qualitative Nursing Research*, 2, 2333393615597674-2333393615597689. doi:10.1177/2333393615597674

- Memon, M. A., Salleh, R., & Baharom, M. N. R. (2016). The link between training satisfaction, work engagement and turnover intention. *European Journal of Training and Development*, 40, 407-429. doi:10.1108/EJTD-10-2015-0077
- Meng, J., & Berger, B. K. (2019). The impact of organizational culture and leadership performance on PR professionals' job satisfaction: Testing the joint mediating effects of engagement and trust. *Public Relations Review*, 45(1), 64-75. doi:10.1016/j.pubrev.2018.11.002
- Mitchell, T. R., Holtom, B. C., Lee, T. W., Sablynski, C. J., & Erez, M. (2001). Why people stay: Using job embeddedness to predict voluntary turnover. *Academy of Management Journal*, 44, 1102-1121. doi:10.2307/3069391
- Mobley, W. H. (1977). Intermediate linkages in the relationship between job satisfaction and employee turnover. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 62, 237-240. doi:10.1037/0021-9010.62.2.237
- Morse, J. M. (2015). Critical analysis of strategies for determining rigor in qualitative inquiry. *Qualitative Health Research*, 25, 1212-1222. doi:10.1177/1049732315588501
- Motilewa, B. D., Bisi-Adeniyi, O. C., Fambegbe, O. A., Oyeyemi, A. I., Worlu, R. E., & Moses, C. L. (2018). Survey data on employees' development and employees' satisfaction in oil and gas firms in Nigeria. *Data in Brief, 19*, 1816-1821. doi:10.1016/j.dib.2018.06.066

- Müller, O., Schmiedel, T., Gorbacheva, E., & Vom Brocke, J. (2016). Towards a typology of business process management professionals: Identifying patterns of competences through latent semantic analysis. *Enterprise Information*Systems, 10, 50-80. doi:10.1080/17517575.2014.923514
- Nafeesa Begum, A., & Brindha, G. (2019). Emerging trends of IT industry policies for ensuring women employee retention. *Indian Journal of Public Health Research* & *Development*, 10(3), 1093-1096. doi:10.5958/0976-5506.2019.00654.5
- Nafei, W. (2015). Meta-analysis of the impact of psychological capital on quality of work life and organizational citizenship behavior: A study on Sadat City University. *International Journal of Business Administration*, 6, 42-59. doi:10.5430/ijba.v6n2p42
- National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and

 Behavioral Research. (1978). *The Belmont report: Ethical principles and*guidelines for the protection of human subjects of research. Bethesda, MD:

 Author. Retrieved from

 http://hhs.gov/ohrp/humansubjects/guidance/belmont.html
- Neal, J., & Neal, B. L. (2019). Oil and gas skill complexity, specializations, and modernizations. Workforce Education at Oil and Gas Companies in the Permian Basin: Emerging Research and Opportunities: Emerging Research and Opportunities, 16-48. doi:10.4018/978-1-5225-8464-3.ch002

- Neal, J. W., Neal, Z. P., VanDyke, E., & Kornbluh, M. (2015). Expediting the analysis of qualitative data in evaluation: A procedure for the rapid identification of themes from audio recordings (RITA). American Journal of Evaluation, 36, 118-132. doi:10.1177/1098214014536601
- Newell, R. G., & Raimi, D. (2018). The fiscal impacts of increased US oil and gas development on local governments. *Energy Policy*, 117, 14-24. doi:10.1016/j.enpol.2018.02.042
- Ng, T. W., & Feldman, D. C. (2012). The effects of organizational and community embeddedness on work-to-family and family-to-work conflict. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 97, 1233-1251. doi:10.1037/a0029089
- Nguyen, V. Q., Taylor, G. S., & Bergiel, E. (2017). Organizational antecedents of job embeddedness. *Management Research Review*, 40, 1216-1235. doi:10.1108/MRR-11-2016-0255
- Nica, E. (2016). Employee voluntary turnover as a negative indicator of organizational effectiveness. *Psychosociological Issues in Human Resource Management*, *4*, 220-226. doi:10.22381/pihrm4220169
- Niebuhr, O., & Michalsky, J. (2019). Computer-generated speaker charisma and its effects on human actions in a car-navigation system experiment -or how Steve Jobs' tone of voice can take you anywhere. In *Computational Science and Its Applications–ICCSA 2019*, 375-390. doi:10.1007/978-3-030-24296-1_31

- Nordstrom, S. N. (2015). Not so innocent anymore: Making recording devices matter in qualitative interviews. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 21, 388-401. doi:10.1177/1077800414563804
- Obeidat, B., Al-Khateeb, A., Abdallah, A. A., & Masa'deh, R. E. (2019). Reviewing the mediating role of work/life balance and motivational drivers of employee engagement on the relationship between talent management and organization performance. *Journal of Social Sciences*, 8(2), 306-326. doi:10.25255/jss.2019.8.2.306.326
- Odetunde, O. J., & Ufodiama, N. M. (2017). Transformational leadership and organisational culture as predictors of employee creativity and innovation in the Nigerian oil and gas service industry. *IFE PsychologIA: An International Journal*, 25, 325-349. Retrieved from https://journals.co.za/content/journal/ifepsyc
- Okafor, M., Ede, V., Kinuthia, R., & Satcher, D. (2018). Explication of a behavioral health-primary care integration learning collaborative and its quality improvement implications. *Community Mental Health Journal*, *54*(8), 1109-1115. doi:10.1007/s10597-017-0230-8
- Ose, S. O. (2016). Using Excel and Word to structure qualitative data. *Journal of Applied Social Science*, 10, 147-162. doi:10.1177/1936724416664948

- Palinkas, L. A., Horwitz, S. M., Green, C. A., Wisdom, J. P., Duan, N., & Hoagwood, K. (2015). Purposeful sampling for qualitative data collection and analysis in mixed method implementation research. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research*, 42, 533-544.
 doi:10.1007/s10488-013-0528-y
- Paquette, E. T., & Ross, L. (2018). The challenges of incorporating research ethics consultation into institutional human subjects protections programs. *The American Journal of Bioethics*, *18*, 49-51. doi:10.1080/15265161.2017.1401179
- Percy, W. H., Kostere, K., & Kostere, S. (2015). Generic qualitative research in psychology. *The Qualitative Report*, 20, 76-85. Retrieved from https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/
- Phillippi, J., & Lauderdale, J. (2018). A guide to field notes for qualitative research:

 Context and conversation. *Qualitative Health Research*, 28, 381-388.

 doi:10.1177/1049732317697102
- Popli, S., & Rizvi, I. A. (2016). Drivers of employee engagement: The role of leadership style. *Global Business Review*, 17, 965-979. doi:10.1177/0972150916645701
- Porter, C. M., Woo, S. E., & Campion, M. A. (2016). Internal and external networking differentially predict turnover through job embeddedness and job offers. *Personnel Psychology*, 69, 635-672. doi:10.1111/peps.12121

- Premalatha, P. (2016). Return on retention (RoR): A grounded study of knowledge workers in Indian IT services industry. *Management and Labour Studies*, 41, 267-293. doi:10.1177/0258042X16676687
- Råheim, M., Magnussen, L. H., Sekse, R. J. T., Lunde, Å., Jacobsen, T., & Blystad,
 A. (2016). Researcher-researched relationship in qualitative research: Shifts in positions and researcher vulnerability. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies on Health and Well-being*, 11, 30996-31007.
 doi:10.3402/qhw.v11.30996
- Rai, B. K., & Srivastava, A. K. (2017). Patient controlled pseudonym-based mechanism suitable for privacy and security of electronic health record. *International Journal of Research in Engineering, IT and Social Sciences*, 588, 26-30. Retrieved from http://indusedu.org/IJREISS.php
- Ramesh, A., & Gelfand, M. J. (2010). Will they stay or will they go? The role of job embeddedness in predicting turnover in individualistic and collectivistic cultures. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 95, 807-823. doi:10.1037/a0019464
- Ranney, M. L., Meisel, Z. F., Choo, E. K., Garro, A. C., Sasson, C., & Morrow Guthrie, K. (2015). Interview-based qualitative research in emergency care Part II: Data collection, analysis and results reporting. *Academic Emergency Medicine*, 22, 1103-1112. doi:10.1111/acem.12735
- Raufflet, E., Cruz, L. B., & Bres, L. (2014). An assessment of corporate social responsibility practices in the mining and oil and gas industries. *Journal of Cleaner production*, 84, 256-270. doi:10.1016/j.jclepro.2014.01.077

- Rebull, M. (2019). How to make positive changes to re-engage and motivate employees after a company downturn. *Strategic HR Review*, 18(3), 104-108, doi:10.1108/SHR-02-2019-0012
- Resnik, D. B. (2017). The role of intuition in risk/benefit decision-making in human subjects research. *Accountability in Research*, 24(1), 1-29. doi:10.1080/08989621.2016.1198978
- Rimando, M., Brace, A. M., Namageyo-Funa, A., Parr, T. L., Sealy, D. A., Davis, T. L., ... Christiana, R. W. (2015). Data collection challenges and recommendations for early career researchers. *The Qualitative Report*, 20, 2025-2036. Retrieved from https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/
- Robinson, R. N., Kralj, A., Solnet, D. J., Goh, E., & Callan, V. (2014). Thinking job embeddedness not turnover: Towards a better understanding of frontline hotel worker retention. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, *36*, 101-109. doi:10.1016/j.ijhm.2013.08.008
- Rodriguez, S. (2016). Toward a methodology of death: Deleuze's "event" as method for critical ethnography. *Critical Questions in Education*, 7, 232-248. Retrieved from https://academyforeducationalstudies.org/journals/journal/current-and-past-issues/
- Rogers, E., & Carrier, H. S. (2017). A qualitative investigation of patrons' experiences with academic library research consultations. *Reference Services Review*, 45, 18-37. doi:10.1108/RSR-04-2016-0029

- Rony, N. I., & Suki, N. M. (2017). Modelling the relationships between internal marketing factors and employee job satisfaction in oil and gas industry. *Asian Social Science*, *13*, 135-144. doi:10.5539/ass.v13n3p135
- Rony, N. I., Suki, N. M., & Chowdhury, I. A. (2017). Examining factors to retain human talent in oil and gas industry. *Advanced Science Letters*, 23, 2974-2977. doi:10.1166/asl.2017.7624
- Roulston, K. (2018). Qualitative interviewing and epistemics. *Qualitative Research*, 18, 322-341. doi:10.1177/1468794117721738
- Rubenstein, A. L., Eberly, M. B., Lee, T. W., & Mitchell, T. R. (2018). Surveying the forest: A meta-analysis, moderator investigation, and future-oriented discussion of the antecedents of voluntary employee turnover. *Personnel Psychology*, 71, 23-65. doi:10.1111/peps.12226
- Rubenstein, A. L., Kammeyer-Mueller, J. D., Wang, M., & Thundiyil, T. G. (2018). "Embedded" at hire? Predicting the voluntary and involuntary turnover of new employees. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 1(1), 1-18. doi:10.1002/job.2335
- Sarmad, M., Ajmal, M. M., Shamim, M., Saleh, M., & Malik, A. (2016). Motivation and compensation as predictors of employees' retention: Evidence from public sector oil and gas selling organizations. *Journal of Behavioural Sciences*, 26, 174-188.

 Retrieved from http://pu.edu.pk/home/journal/24/

- Saunders, B., Sim, J., Kingstone, T., Baker, S., Waterfield, J., Bartlam, B., ... Jinks, C. (2018). Saturation in qualitative research: Exploring its conceptualization and operationalization. *Quality & Quantity*, 52, 1893-1907. doi:10.1007/s11135-017-0574-8
- Schoenherr, T., Ellram, L. M., & Tate, W. L. (2015). A note on the use of survey research firms to enable empirical data collection. *Journal of Business Logistics*, *36*, 288-300. doi:10.1111/jbl.12092
- Schwarz, N. (2014). Cognition and communication: Judgmental biases, research methods, and the logic of conversation. New York, NY: Psychology Press.
- Sekhobo, J. P., Peck, S. R., Byun, Y., Allsopp, M. A., Holbrook, M. K., Edmunds, L. S., ... Yu, C. (2017). Use of a mixed-method approach to evaluate the implementation of retention promotion strategies in the New York State WIC program. *Evaluation and Program Planning*, *63*, 7-17. doi:10.1016/j.evalprogplan.2017.03.002
- Selden, S. C., & Sowa, J. E. (2015). Voluntary turnover in nonprofit human service organizations: The impact of high performance work practices. *Human Service Organizations: Management, Leadership & Governance, 39*, 182-207. doi:10.1080/23303131.2015.1031416
- Sender, A., Rutishauser, L., & Staffelbach, B. (2018). Embeddedness across contexts: A two-country study on the additive and buffering effects of job embeddedness on employee turnover. *Human Resource Management Journal*, 28, 340-356. doi:10.1111/1748-8583.12183

- Shin, D., & Konrad, A. M. (2017). Causality between high-performance work systems and organizational performance. *Journal of Management*, *43*, 973-997. doi:10.1177/0149206314544746
- Sluyterman, K. (2017). Decolonisation and the organisation of the international workforce: Dutch multinationals in Indonesia, 1945–1967. *Business History*, 1(1), 1-20. doi:10.1080/00076791.2017.1350170
- Sparrow, P. R., & Makram, H. (2015). What is the value of talent management?

 Building value-driven processes within a talent management architecture. *Human Resource Management Review*, 25, 249-263. doi:10.1016/j.hrmr.2015.04.002
- Spiers, J., Morse, J. M., Olson, K., Mayan, M., & Barrett, M. (2018).

 Reflection/commentary on a past article: "Verification strategies for establishing reliability and validity in qualitative research." *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 17(1), 1-2. doi:10.1177/1609406918788237
- Stewart, H., Gapp, R., & Harwood, I. (2017). Exploring the alchemy of qualitative management research: Seeking trustworthiness, credibility and rigor through crystallization. *The Qualitative Report*, 22(1), 1-19. Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/
- Stuckey, H. L. (2015). The second step in data analysis: Coding qualitative research data. *Journal of Social Health and Diabetes*, *3*(1), 7-10. doi:10.4103/2321-0656.140875

- Sumbal, M. S., Tsui, E., See-to, E., & Barendrecht, A. (2017). Knowledge retention and aging workforce in the oil and gas industry: A multi perspective study. *Journal of Knowledge Management*, 21, 907-924. doi:10.1108/JKM-07-2016-0281
- Sutton, J., & Austin, Z. (2015). Qualitative research: Data collection, analysis, and management. *The Canadian Journal of Hospital Pharmacy*, 68, 226-231. doi:10.4212/cjhp.v68i3.1456
- Sykes, B. L., Verma, A., & Hancock, B. H. (2018). Aligning sampling and case selection in quantitative-qualitative research designs: Establishing generalizability limits in mixed-method studies. *Ethnography*, 19, 227-253. doi:10.1177/1466138117725341
- Sypniewska, B. (2014). Evaluation of factors influencing job satisfaction. *Contemporary economics*, 8(1), 57-72. doi:10.5709/ce.1897-9254.131
- Taib, A., Krauss, S. E., & Ismail, I. A. (2019). Executive retention in a Malaysian
 research and development organization. *Education, Sustainability & Society*, 2(1),
 1-3. doi:10.26480/ess.01.2019.01.03
- Tatebe, J. (2015). The ethics of difference: Ethical dilemmas of external researchers. *Journal of Academic Ethics*, *13*, 229-237. doi:10.1007/s10805-015-9236-4
- Tavakol, M., & Sandars, J. (2014). Quantitative and qualitative methods in medical education research: AMEE Guide No 90: Part II. *Medical Teacher*, *36*, 838-848. doi:10.3109/0142159X.2014.915297
- Tetnowski, J. (2015). Qualitative case study research design. *Perspectives on Fluency and Fluency Disorders*, 25(1), 39-45. doi:10.1044/ffd25.1.39

- Thakur, S. J., & Bhatnagar, J. (2017). Mediator analysis of job embeddedness. *Employee Relations*, 39, 718-731. doi:10.1108/er-11-2016-0223
- Thomas, D. R. (2017). Feedback from research participants: Are member checks useful in qualitative research? *Qualitative Research in Psychology, 14*, 23-41. doi:10.1080/14780887.2016.1219435
- Thorpe, R., Hawkes, G., Dune, T., Fileborn, B., Pitts, M., & Minichiello, V. (2018).
 Hidden boundaries and shared meanings: the roles of researcher characteristics and cultural norms in shaping understandings of sexuality in the unstructured interview setting. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 21, 205-217. doi:10.1080/13645579.2017.1350016
- Thunnissen, M. (2016). Talent management: For what, how and how well? An empirical exploration of talent management in practice. *Employee Relations*, *38*, 57-72. doi:10.1108/er-08-2015-0159
- Thy, M. J. T. B. O., Asano, M., & Finlayson, M. (2015). Combining qualitative and quantitative data collection and analysis methods in understanding multiple sclerosis fatigue management. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods, 14*, 53-68. doi:10.1177/160940691501400206
- Timms, C., Brough, P., O'Driscoll, M., Kalliath, T., Siu, O. L., Sit, C., . . . Lo, D. (2015). Flexible work arrangements, work engagement, turnover intentions and psychological health. *Asia Pacific Journal of Human Resources*, *53*, 83-103. doi:10.1111/1744-7941.12030

- Van Looy, A., & Shafagatova, A. (2016). Business process performance measurement: A structured literature review of indicators, measures and metrics. *SpringerPlus*, 5(1), 1797. doi:10.1186/s40064-016-3498-1
- van Woerkom, M., Bakker, A. B., & Nishii, L. H. (2016). Accumulative job demands and support for strength use: Fine-tuning the job demands-resources model using conservation of resources theory. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 101, 141-150. doi:10.1037/apl0000033
- Varpio, L., Ajjawi, R., Monrouxe, L. V., O'Brien, B. C., & Rees, C. E. (2017). Shedding the cobra effect: Problematising thematic emergence, triangulation, saturation and member checking. *Medical Education*, *51*, 40-50. doi:10.1111/medu.13124
- Venkatesh, V., Brown, S. A., & Bala, H. (2013). Bridging the qualitative-quantitative divide: Guidelines for conducting mixed methods research in information systems. *MIS Quarterly*, *37*, 21-54. Retrieved from http://aisel.aisnet.org/misq/
- Waldman, D. A., Carter, M. Z., & Hom, P. W. (2015). A multilevel investigation of leadership and turnover behavior. *Journal of Management*, 41, 1724-1744. doi:10.1177/0149206312460679
- Wasilowski, S. (2018). Employee engagement in higher education. *Journal of Social Science Research*, 12, 2699-2712. doi.10.24297/jssr.v12i2.7435
- Way, A. K., Kanak Zwier, R., & Tracy, S. J. (2015). Dialogic interviewing and flickers of transformation: An examination and delineation of interactional strategies that promote participant self-reflexivity. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 21, 720-731. doi:10.1177/1077800414566686

- Wells, R. S., Kolek, E. A., Williams, E. A., & Saunders, D. B. (2015). "How we know what we know": A systematic comparison of research methods employed in higher education journals, 1996–2000 v. 2006–2010. *The Journal of Higher Education*, 86, 171-198. doi:10.1080/00221546.2015.11777361
- Wessels, J. S., & Visagie, R. G. (2017). The eligibility of public administration research for ethics review: A case study of two international peer-reviewed journals. *International Review of Administrative Sciences*, 83, 156-176. doi:10.1177/2F0020852315585949
- Wilkinson, C., & Wilkinson, S. (2017). Doing it write: Representation and responsibility in writing up participatory research involving young people. *Social Inclusion*, *5*, 219-227. doi:10.17645/si.v5i3.957
- Wilson, A. D., Onwuegbuzie, A. J., & Manning, L. P. (2016). Using paired depth interviews to collect qualitative data. *The Qualitative Report*, *21*, 1549-1573. Retrieved from https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/
- Wolf, L. E., Patel, M. J., Tarver, B. A. W., Austin, J. L., Dame, L. A., & Beskow, L. M. (2015). Certificates of confidentiality: Protecting human subject research data in law and practice. *The Journal of Law, Medicine & Ethics*, 43, 594-609. doi:10.1111/jlme.12302
- Woodworth, J. A. (2016). Predictive factors impacting intent-to-stay teaching for associate degree adjunct clinical nurse faculty. *Teaching and Learning in Nursing*, 11, 147-151. doi:10.1016/j.teln.2016.06.006

- Yarbrough, S., Martin, P., Alfred, D., & McNeill, C. (2017). Professional values, job satisfaction, career development, and intent to stay. *Nursing Ethics*, *24*, 675-685. doi:10.1177/0969733015623098
- Yin, R. K. (2018). Case study research: Design and methods (6th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage
- Yu, Q., Yen, D. A., Barnes, B. R., & Huang, Y. A. (2019). Enhancing firm performance through internal market orientation and employee organizational commitment. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 30(6), 964-987. doi:10.1080/09585192.2017.1380059
- Zhang, J., Zhang, Y., Song, Y., & Gong, Z. (2016). The different relations of extrinsic, introjected, identified regulation and intrinsic motivation on employees' performance: Empirical studies following self-determination theory. *Management Decision*, 54, 2393-2412. doi:10.1108/MD-01-2016-0007
- Zhu, J., Wanberg, C. R., Harrison, D. A., & Diehn, E. W. (2016). Ups and downs of the expatriate experience? Understanding work adjustment trajectories and career outcomes. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 101, 549-568. doi:10.1037/apl0000073

Appendix: Interview Protocol

Date	e: Location:
Inte	rviewer: Participant:
Proc	cess:
	Introduction.
	Explain the interview protocol and purpose of the study to the participant.
	Obtain participant signature of the consent document to ensure confidentiality.
	Set up and test recording device and back up recording device.
	Assign participant code in observation journal; write code at the top of the sheet
	Observe non-verbal ques.
	Write observations in a journal.
	Ask interview questions.
	Ask follow-up or probing questions to obtain more detailed responses, as needed

Opening script: Thank you for your time to participate in this interview. Please confirm that I have your approval to record the interview and to take notes, as discussed. I will ask seven questions along with follow up questions based on the answers that you provide. All question will be based on strategies you employ to retain specialized employees. Shall we get started?

Interview questions:

- 1. What strategies do you employ to retain specialized employees?
- 2. What specific strategies do you employ to retain specialized employees?
- 3. What strategies do you find worked best to retain specialized employees?
- 4. What strategies, in your opinion, did not work to retain specialized employees?
- 5. How do you monitor, update, or modify specialized employee retention strategies?
- 6. How did you assess the effectiveness of the strategies for retaining specialized employees?
- 7. What other information would you like to share regarding strategies that contribute to the successful retention of specialized employees?

Wrap up interview script:

Thank you for your time and candid answers to the questions.

Schedule follow-up member checking interview script:

I would like to schedule a follow up meeting or telephone discussion with you to verify, check and confirm that I have accurately captured all the answers you provided to the questions asked. When is a convenient time to follow up?